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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
PIPELINE AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SAFETY ADMINISTRATION 

OFFICE OF PIPELINE SAFETY 

) 
In the Matter of ) 

) 
Distrigas of Massachusetts, LLC ) CPF No. 1-2019-3001M 

) 
Respondent. ) 
____________________________________) 

Post-Hearing Brief 
of Distrigas of Massachusetts, LLC 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Pursuant to 49 C.F.R. § 190.211(g) (2019) and the instruction of the Presiding Official at 
the January 21, 2020 hearing, Distrigas of Massachusetts, LLC (Distrigas) respectfully submits 
its Post-Hearing Brief regarding the Notice of Amendment (NOA) issued by the Office of 
Pipeline Safety (OPS) on September 17, 2019.1 The NOA alleges that Distrigas’s Truck 
Loading Procedure, EMT-05, does not provide adequate recordkeeping guidance with respect to 
testing the transfer hoses used to transfer liquefied natural gas (LNG) to tanker trucks at the 
Everett LNG Terminal (Terminal).  

This Post-Hearing Brief incorporates by reference the Pre-Hearing Brief submitted by 
Distrigas on January 10, 20202 and responds to issues raised during the January 21, 2020 hearing 
and the Pre-Hearing Submission provided by the Region.3 Distrigas respectfully requests that 
the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA) Associate Administrator 
withdraw the NOA because it is factually and legally unsupported.  In addition, the Closure 
Letter issued by the Region on November 18, 2019 should be rescinded and withdrawn because 
it is improper as a matter of law and factually unsupported.  

II. ARGUMENT 

The NOA alleges that Distrigas’s Truck Loading Procedure is inadequate because, 
according to OPS, the procedure does not provide adequate recordkeeping guidance with respect 
to testing the transfer hoses used to transfer of LNG when loading trucks with LNG.  Distrigas 
demonstrated in its Pre-Hearing Brief that OPS has not met its burden of proving that the Truck 

1 PHMSA, Office of Pipeline Safety, Notice of Amendment, CPF No. 1-2019-3001M (Sept. 17, 2019). 
2 Pre-Hearing Brief of Distrigas of Massachusetts, LLC, CPF No. 1-2019-3001M (Jan. 10, 2020) (Distrigas Pre-
Hearing Br.). 
3 Email of Ms. Ajoke Agboola, Attorney Advisor, Office of Chief Counsel, PHMSA, to Ms. Kristin Baldwin, 
Presiding Official, PHMSA (Jan. 10, 2020) (OPS Pre-Hearing Submission). 



 

 

   
  

  
  

  
  

 

 

   
  

  
 

     
  

   
 

  
 

   
  

  
 

      
   

   
   

     
    

    
     

                                                 
     

     
  

      

    
   

    
     

    
    
    
   

   
  

Loading Procedure is inadequate.4 The Truck Loading Procedure contains all of the information 
alleged by the NOA to be missing and none of the information alleged to be missing from the 
Bills of Lading is related to either Part 193 or to safety of the Terminal.  The Pre-Hearing Brief 
also demonstrated that Distrigas’s procedures contained all necessary record retention provisions 
prior to both the inspection and issuance of the NOA.  The Truck Loading Procedure is not 
inadequate to ensure safety of the LNG Terminal.  

At the January 21, 2020 hearing, the lack of support for the NOA’s allegation was even 
more clear.  First, OPS conceded that Distrigas’s Record Retention Procedure (RC-003), updated 
June 6, 2016, existed at the time of the inspection and addressed the examples of alleged record-
keeping inadequacies described in the NOA.5 Therefore, the NOA’s allegation that Distrigas’s 
procedures failed to provide details on record retention requirements is unsupportable.  Other 
assertions advanced by the Region to justify the NOA also are unsupported as OPS misconstrues 
the purpose of the Truck Loading Procedure and the regulations applicable to the completion of 
the Distrigas Bills of Lading.  The Truck Loading Procedure does not govern the Bill of Lading.  
Rather, it is governed by PHMSA’s regulations governing the transportation of hazardous 
materials. 

At no time in this proceeding has OPS identified any instance of a failure to visually 
inspect the transfer hoses or to document that visual inspections were performed.  Each Bill of 
Lading record shows that the transfer hoses were inspected each time a truck was loaded. 
Distrigas respectfully requests that PHMSA find that OPS has failed to satisfy its burden of 
demonstrating that Distrigas’s Truck Loading Procedure is inadequate and withdraw the NOA.  

Distrigas also reiterates its request that PHMSA rescind and withdraw the Closure Letter 
issued by the Region on November 18, 2019. Issuance of the Closure Letter was improper as a 
matter of law because Distrigas had filed a request for hearing challenging the merits of the NOA 
and that request was still pending. Distrigas’s right to a hearing to challenge the merits of the 
NOA is provided by the Pipeline Safety Act6 and PHMSA’s regulations.7 In addition, PHMSA’s 
Pipeline Safety Enforcement Procedures require that PHMSA convene a hearing if a Respondent 
requests one.8 Despite Distrigas’s pending request for a hearing, however, the Closure Letter 
implicitly assumed that the inadequacies alleged in the NOA regarding Distrigas’s Truck 

4 Three versions of Distrigas’s Truck Loading Procedure are relevant in this proceeding.  The first is the March 13, 
2018 version which was in effect until June 6, 2019 when it was revised and updated. The NOA incorrectly refers to 
this version as the “3/3/18 Procedure.”  The second version, dated June 6, 2019, was in effect during the June 2019 
inspection and was reviewed by the PHMSA Inspector.  The third version was updated on June 25, 2019 for the 
purpose of clarifying for the Inspector that the “operator” is the “Shipper” and the truck driver is the “Carrier” on the 
Bill of Lading.  These procedures were included with the Non-Public version of Distrigas’s Pre-Hearing Brief as 
Attachments 2, 3, and 4.  A redline showing how the June 25, 2019 version of the Truck Loading Procedure 
modified the June 6, 2019 version is included as Attachment 5 of Distrigas’s Pre-Hearing Brief. 
5 In the Matter of Distrigas of Massachusetts, L.L.C., Deposition of PHMSA Hearing, CPF No. 1-2019-3001M, at 
30 (Jan. 21, 2020) (“Hearing Transcript,” included as Attachment 1 hereto). 
6 49 U.S.C. § 60108(a)(2) (2018). 
7 49 C.F.R. § 190.206(a). 
8 PHMSA, Pipeline Safety Enforcement Procedures, Section 4, Administrative Enforcement Processes, at 57-58, 75 
(Dec. 12, 2018) (The portion of Section 4 describing processes related to Notices of Amendment is included as 
Attachment 2 of Distrigas’s Post-Hearing Brief) (Pipeline Safety Enforcement Procedures) 
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Loading Procedure were true and stated, without explanation, that Distrigas had “corrected” 
them.  At the hearing, the basis for one of these assertions was demonstrated to be entirely 
unsupported as OPS admitted that Distrigas’s Record Retention Procedure existed at the time of 
the inspection and addressed the NOA’s examples of alleged Record Retention inadequacies. 
Whether the Inspector reviewed the procedure at the time of the inspection is irrelevant.  The 
Region’s reliance on the June 25, 2019 revised Truck Loading Procedure to justify closing the 
NOA is similarly untenable because the revised procedure was provided before issuance of an 
NOA. Submitting this procedure, regardless of its purpose, does not void a Respondent’s right to 
respond to an NOA when it is issued and request a hearing to challenge its merits, especially 
when the NOA raised issues not identified after the inspection.  The Closure Letter was improper 
and should be rescinded and withdrawn. 

Even though the Presiding Official convened a hearing, Distrigas remains harmed by the 
Closure Letter because its implicit assumption that an inadequacy existed and the finding that 
Distrigas “corrected” it give the false impression that Distrigas’s Truck Loading Procedure was 
inadequate to ensure safety at the Terminal.  This impression is false because, as demonstrated in 
this Post-Hearing Brief, the alleged inadequacy and the basis for the Closure Letter’s finding that 
Distrigas “corrected” the alleged inadequacy are contradicted by the facts. The Closure Letter 
creates unjustified public blemish on Distrigas’s compliance record.  In addition, this proceeding 
would be considered prior enforcement action in a potential future proceeding. 

Even if PHMSA upholds the NOA, the Closure Letter should be rescinded and 
withdrawn in order to properly recognize that a Region cannot unilaterally close a case while a 
request for hearing has been filed and is pending and before the merits of alleged inadequacies 
are adjudicated.  Rather, if the NOA is sustained, the proper action under PHMSA’s regulations 
is for the Associate Administrator to issue an Order Directing an Amendment.9 A closure letter 
would be an appropriate action only after Distrigas submits a revised procedure and PHMSA 
finds it to be adequate. 

A. OPS Concedes That Distrigas’s Procedures Contained the Necessary Record 
Retention Provisions 

The NOA states that the Procedure “failed to provide details” regarding, among other 
things, “Record retention requirements.”10 The NOA does not mention Distrigas’s Record 
Retention Procedure RC-003, updated June 6, 2016, because the Region claims that Distrigas did 
not provide the procedure during the inspection and that the Inspector did not review it until 
Distrigas provided it on November 13, 2019 when the Region requested it.11 Upon reviewing 

9 49 C.F.R. § 190.206(b) (“After considering all material presented in writing or at the hearing, if applicable, the 
Associate Administrator determines whether the plans or procedures are inadequate as alleged. The Associate 
Administrator issues an order directing amendment of the plans or procedures if they are inadequate, or withdraws 
the notice if they are not.”); see also Pipeline Safety Enforcement Procedures, Section 4, at 78-79 (see Attachment 2 
hereto). 
10 NOA at 2. 
11 Hearing Transcript at 28, 30; OPS Pre-Hearing Submission, Attached email of Ms. Ajoke Agboola to Ms. Kristin 
Baldwin and Ms. Susan Bergles, Assistant General Counsel, Exelon (Dec. 9, 2019) (OPS Pre-Hearing Submission 
Attachment).  The Inspector stated in his affidavit that, during the inspection, he did not review Distrigas’s Record 
Retention procedures related to transfer hoses and that he reviewed them for the first time on November 13, 2019, 
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the procedure, OPS claimed that it resolved the Region’s record-keeping concerns and was part 
of the basis for issuing the Closure Letter.12 

In its Pre-Hearing Brief, Distrigas challenged the alleged inadequacy, arguing that the 
Inspector reviewed the Record Retention Procedure during the inspection and that it contained 
all the necessary record retention provisions prior to the inspection and prior to issuance of the 
NOA.13 

At the hearing, OPS admitted that Distrigas’s Record Retention Procedure existed at the 
time of the inspection and conceded that the procedure addressed the examples of record-keeping 
inadequacies alleged in the NOA.14 The Region’s concession is clear from the following 
statements during the hearing: 

MS. AGBOOLA:  The first time that PHMSA reviewed the record-retention 
procedures was on November 13th, after having an informal meeting with 
Distrigas.  After reviewing the record-retention procedures, the Eastern Region 
willingly, you know, recognized, okay, these – some of the alleged inadequacies. 
Some of the examples that were provided were, in fact, addressed by the record-
retention procedure, but at no time were the record-retention procedures reviewed 
during the inspection, and that is why it is the first thing listed in the NOA.15 

* * * * * * * 
MS. AGBOOLA:  We had an informal meeting, and during that meeting, 
Distrigas explained that they keep all of their record-retention requirements in a 
separate procedure, and so, we asked to see that procedure, and they provided it to 
us, and after reviewing that procedure, you know, we realized that, okay, one of 
the examples of what the procedures failed to provide had been addressed.  They 
do have a procedure that details the record retention requirements and the details 
of the frequency for completing the Bill of Lading records.  That is all in the 
record-retention procedures. 

MS. BALDWIN:  But it was not a new procedure?  The Region is not alleging 
that this procedure was created for the purposes of satisfying this NOA?  This is a 
procedure that they failed to give you at the time of the inspection until the 
November 13th – 

MS. AGBOOLA:  Yes. 

when Distrigas provided them.  Affidavit of Mr. Matthew Valerio, General Engineer, Eastern Region, PHMSA, at 
¶¶ 20-21 (Feb 10, 2020) (Valerio Affidavit). 
12 Hearing Transcript at 28, 30-31. 
13 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at Attachment 6.  The procedure had been reviewed and approved without any changes 
by Distrigas on September 9, 2018. 
14 Hearing Transcript at 30.  OPS also acknowledged that the Record Retention Procedure was not created for the 
purpose of satisfying the NOA. Id. 
15 Id. at 28. 
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MS.BALDWIN:  So, on the basis of that document, the Region made a decision 
to close the NOA? 

MS. AGBOOLA:  Yes.16 

These statements confirm that, contrary to the allegation in the NOA, Distrigas had a 
procedure that provided “details” regarding “Record retention requirements.”17 OPS’s 
admission demonstrates that the NOA’s allegation that Distrigas’s procedures failed to address 
record retention requirements has no factual support. 

The Region claims that Distrigas did not provide the Record Retention Procedure during 
the inspection and that the Inspector did not review it until November 13, 2019 when Distrigas 
provided it at the Region’s request.18 The preponderance of the evidence, however, suggests 
otherwise.  As described in Distrigas’s Pre-Hearing Brief and in the Affidavit of Ms. Bryn 
Karaus, who attended the first day of the inspection on behalf of Distrigas,19 the Inspector asked 
“whether Terminal procedures included a process for requiring the maintenance of records for 
every inspection and test required by Part 193.”20 Terminal representatives explained that 
Record Retention Procedure No. RC-003, most recently updated on June 6, 2016, describes 
record retention periods for each inspection and test performed under Part 193.  Ms. Karaus 
explains in her affidavit that her notes of the inspection show that, like other procedures 
reviewed by the Inspector that day, the Record Retention Procedure was displayed on a visual 
monitor so that the Inspector could review the language and the procedure’s content.21 

Distrigas personnel have no recollection of the Inspector requesting that the Record 
Retention Procedure be submitted to OPS and OPS has not stated that it made such a request.  
The Inspector admits that, during the verbal exit briefing, he did not discuss any concerns about 
record retention.22 Indeed, none of the post-inspection correspondence, including the emails of 
the Inspector, the post-inspection Verbal Exit Briefing Report and Requested Items, and the 
Post-Inspection Written Preliminary Findings, mentions record retention issues.23 The complete 
absence of any mention by OPS of record retention concerns in the post-inspection 
correspondence suggests that OPS did not raise it.  Therefore, Distrigas had no reason to provide 
the Record Retention Procedure.  When OPS requested the Record Retention Procedure on 
November 13, 2019, Distrigas provided it on the same day.24 

16 Hearing Transcript at 30-31. 
17 NOA at 2. 
18 OPS Pre-Hearing Submission Attachment at 1; Hearing Transcript at 28, 30; Valerio Affidavit at ¶¶ 20-21. 
19 Affidavit of Ms. Bryn Karaus, Of Counsel, Van Ness Feldman, LLP, at ¶ 5 (Feb. 10, 2020) (Karaus Affidavit) 
(Attachment 3 hereto). 
20 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at 14; Karaus Affidavit at ¶ 5.  
21 Karaus Affidavit at ¶ 5.  
22 Valerio Affidavit at ¶ 17 (“In addition to the above concerns regarding the Bills of Lading, I was concerned that 
EMT-05 did not have a record retention provision. This concern was not specifically discussed during the verbal 
exit briefing but was included in the NOA.”) (emphasis added). 
23 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at Attachments 9, 11, 13, & 14. 
24 Id. at Attachment 15. 
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The date on which the Inspector reviewed OPS’s Record Retention Procedure does not 
have any impact on the fact that, at that time of the inspection, Distrigas had a procedure that 
details record retention requirements.  At the hearing, OPS conceded that the procedure 
addressed examples of inadequacies alleged in the NOA and that the procedure was not created 
in response to the NOA.  Therefore, at the time the NOA was issued, Distrigas’s procedures 
relating to record retention were not inadequate for failing to address recordkeeping details. The 
allegation in the NOA has been disproved by more than a preponderance of the evidence and 
OPS failed to meet its burden.25 

B. The Truck Loading Procedure Is Not Inadequate 

The NOA alleges that the Truck Loading Procedure “failed to include sufficient guidance 
on how to record the information on the Bill of Lading Record”26 because the procedure failed to 
provide the following details: 

• Identification of what form/document, name/number that LNG truck 
loading transfers and transfer hose visual inspections are to be documented 
on 

• A definition of “Operator”, “Shipper, Per” and “Carrier, Per” from the Bill 
of Lading record fields 

• Who completes/signs off on the Bill of Lading records27 

At the Hearing, OPS reiterated these allegations.  OPS claimed that the Truck Loading 
Procedure governs the Bill of Lading and that the procedure should be drafted so that “anyone” 
can use it, even those “unfamiliar with this process” of loading a truck with LNG and completing 
the Bill of Lading.28 OPS also stated that “the point of the procedures is to help any personnel 
regardless of how familiar they are with your forms fill out the document, and that the regulation 
is focused on the details.”29 OPS also appeared to suggest that the procedure may be ambiguous 
because it does not specify which version of the Bill of Lading is to be used.  

These allegations cannot be sustained as a matter of either law or fact. 

1. Only One Version of the Bill of Lading Exists 

The NOA claimed that the Truck Loading Procedure was inadequate because it failed to 
provide the details regarding the “[i]dentification of what form/document, name/number that 

25 In re ExxonMobil Pipeline Co., Final Order, CPF No. 4-2017-5027, 2019 WL3734516, at **4-5 (D.O.T. Apr. 3, 
2019) (ordering withdrawal of allegations where OPS failed to prove that Respondent engaged in the conduct that 
would constitute a violation); In re Butte Pipeline Co., Final Order, CPF No. 5-2007-5008, 2009 WL 3190794, at *1 
(D.O.T. Aug. 17, 2009) (“PHMSA carries the burden of proving the allegations set forth in the Notice meaning that 
a violation may be found only if the evidence supporting the allegation outweighs the evidence and reasoning 
presented by Respondent in its defense.”). 
26 NOA at 2. 
27 Id. at 2. 
28 Hearing Transcript at 50-51. 
29 Id. at 53. 
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LNG truck loading transfers and transfer hose visual inspections are to be documented on.”30 

Distrigas’s Pre-Hearing Brief explained that Section 3.1.1.1 of all versions of the Truck Loading 
Procedures clearly specifies that the Bill of Lading is the document used to record that the 
transfer hoses are visually inspected when a truck is loaded.31 

At the hearing, the Region seemed to suggest that the Truck Loading Procedure did not 
clearly identify which version of the Bill of Lading should be used to record the completion of 
the visual inspection: 

MR. SPRINGER:  . . . it is very common to see . . . a revision date, a version 
number on a procedure, that kind of thing, and for that to be specifically 
referenced in the procedure . . . these documents, the records that are used, they 
often go through revisions, and we think it’s important that they are to be kind of, 
you know, an agreement between the procedure and the current version of 
whatever record form is being used so that . . . there is no confusion to the person 
who is trying to follow that procedure on which version of the form I am 
supposed to be using and that there is consistency in the way that things are being 
documented.32 

To the extent that the Region is suggesting that the Truck Loading Procedure is 
inadequate because it fails to specify which “version” of the Bill of Lading should be used to 
record completion of the visual inspection of the transfer hoses, Distrigas clarifies that only one 
version of the Bill of Lading exists.  There is no confusion and no inconsistency in how the 
visual inspections of the transfer hoses are documented, and the Region has not identified any.  
The allegation that the Truck Loading Procedure did not clearly identify which version of the 
Bill of Lading should be used to record the completion of the visual inspection lacks any record 
support and must be rejected.33 

2. The Truck Loading Procedure Does Not Govern the Completion of the 
Bills of Lading and Is Clearly Written for the Trained Personnel Who 
Use Them 

The NOA asserts that the Truck Loading Procedure was inadequate because it failed to 
provide details regarding “[a] definition of “Operator”, “Shipper, Per” and “Carrier, Per” from 
the Bill of Lading record fields” and “[w]ho completes/signs off on the Bill of Lading records.34 

This concern appears to have its genesis in the Inspector’s confusion during the inspection when 
he viewed the computer-printed duplicates of the original handwritten Bills of Lading.  As 
Distrigas explained in its Pre-Hearing Brief, these computer-printed duplicates, generated days 

30 NOA at 2. 
31 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at 15. 
32 Hearing Transcript at 39. 
33 In re ExxonMobil, 2019 WL3734516 at **4-5 (ordering withdrawal of allegations where OPS failed to prove that 
Respondent engaged in the conduct that would constitute a violation); In re Air Prods. & Chems., Inc., Final Order, 
CPF No. 4-2013-1001, 2015 WL 6758819, at *3 (D.O.T. Aug. 10, 2015) (withdrawing alleged violation because 
PHMSA did not produce “any evidence to support its position” and thereby did not meet its burden of proof). 
34 NOA at 2. 
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after the trucks were loaded at the request of Constellation (the seller of the LNG), did not bear 
the signature of the Carrier, i.e., the truck driver.  The original handwritten version of each Bill 
of Lading, however, was signed by the truck driver (i.e., Carrier) and Distrigas (i.e., the 
Operator/Shipper).35 

At the hearing, OPS asserted that, before Distrigas submitted the revised Truck Loading 
Procedure on June 25, 2019, it referred to the “Operator’s” signature on the Bill of Lading to 
document the visual inspection of the transfer hoses, but that the Bill of Lading uses the terms 
“Shipper” and “Carrier.”  Alleging that the two documents are inconsistent,36 OPS asserted that 
because the Truck Loading Procedure dictates the completion of the Bill of Lading37 the alleged 
lack of clarity regarding who signs the Bill of Lading raises a safety concern.38 

Acknowledging a lack of familiarity with shipping documents, OPS also asserted that 
Truck Loading Procedure should be written so that “anyone” can understand it and to enable 
“any personnel” to complete the Bill of Lading.39 Without pointing to any examples where 
signatures were either missing or incorrect, OPS stated further that “[i]f it [the Truck Loading 
Procedure] had said, ‘The Shipper’s signature on the Bill of Lading indicates that the hoses had 
been visually inspected,’ then someone who is unfamiliar with this process can read the 
procedures and look at the Bill of Lading, and say, oh, this makes sense.”40 

OPS’s statements that the Truck Loading Procedure governs the completion of the Bill of 
Lading and that the procedure should be written so that “anyone” and those “unfamiliar with the 
process” can understand them, or that “any personnel” can use them to complete the Bill of 
Lading, are incorrect and inconsistent with applicable regulations.  The Distrigas Bill of Lading 
is not governed by the Truck Loading Procedure.  Rather, like the transportation of LNG by 
truck, the Bill of Lading is governed by PHMSA’s regulations applicable to the transportation of 
hazardous materials. The Truck Loading Procedure also is written with the appropriate level of 
clarity for the trained Terminal personnel who use it.  “Anyone” and those “unfamiliar with this 
process” do not need to know how to load a truck with LNG, as untrained individuals are 

35 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at 5, 16.  As Distrigas explained in its Pre-Hearing Brief, each original handwritten bill 
of lading contains the truck driver’s signature. Id. at 5, 16 & Attachment 1. These handwritten bills of lading and 
the computer-printed duplicates were provided to the Inspector immediately following the inspection.  In July 2019, 
Distrigas and the Inspector convened a conference call to review their content. Id. at 6-7 and Attachments 1 
(containing Bills of Lading and Truck Loading Slips) and Attachments 8, 10, & 12. 
36 Hearing Transcript at 42-43; Valerio Affidavit at ¶¶ 11-15. 
37 Hearing Transcript at 40 (“MS. AGBOOLA: They said that there were some statements made that the truck-
loading procedures . . . don’t dictate how you fill out the Bill of Lading.  We disagree.  The truck-loading procedures 
walk through . . . who is supposed to sign the Bill of Lading, and what that – the signature is supposed to 
represent.”); Valerio Affidavit at ¶ 10  (“I also reviewed Respondent’s Truck Loading Procedure EMT-05 (EMT-
05), which governs the Bills of Lading.”). 
38 Hearing Transcript at 40-41(“MS. AGBOOLA: . . . the Bill of Lading is a document that Distrigas has chosen to 
use to demonstrate that they are in compliance with [§ 193.2321(b)].  It’s important that it’s filled out correctly, and 
that the signatures are there in order to demonstrate safety, and to insure that their personnel are safe, and that the 
hoses that they are using are safe.”). 
39 Hearing Transcript at 50-51, 53. 
40 Id. at 51. 
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prohibited from performing these tasks at the Terminal and are prohibited from transporting 
LNG by truck under PHMSA’s regulations. 

a. The Truck Loading Procedure Is Governed by PHMSA’s Hazardous 
Materials Transportation Regulations 

Distrigas’s Pre-Hearing Brief fully explained the purpose of a bill of lading and the terms 
“Shipper” and “Carrier” when goods are shipped in commerce.41 The Distrigas Bill of Lading 
records the details of the shipment of LNG by truck.  Distrigas, the Operator, is the Shipper, and 
the truck driver is the Carrier.  Shipping information on the Bill of Lading is provided by both 
Constellation (the seller of the LNG at the Terminal) and the driver of the truck used to ship the 
LNG to its destination.42 

Distrigas also explained that the purpose of the Truck Loading Procedure is to describe 
the steps required to ensure that the physical transfer of LNG from the Terminal tanks into the 
tanker trucks is performed safely in compliance with Part 193.43 Although certain information 
generated by the truck loading process is recorded on the Bill of Lading, the Truck Loading 
Procedure does not govern the completion of the Bill of Lading.44 

OPS’s claim that the Truck Loading Procedure governs the completion of the Bill of 
Lading is incorrect because the Bill of Lading is governed by PHMSA’s regulations covering the 
transportation of hazardous materials.  The Truck Loading Procedure addresses requirements of 
Part 193, not requirements relating to the shipment of hazardous materials.  

PHMSA is one of the federal agencies that regulates the safe and secure transportation of 
hazardous materials.45 Under PHMSA’s hazardous materials regulations, LNG is a “cryogenic 
liquid” classified as a Class 2 Hazardous Material.46 LNG is listed on PHMSA’s Hazardous 
Materials Table under Methane and its Identification Number is UN1972.47 

The transportation of LNG by tanker truck is governed by PHMSA’s hazardous materials 
regulations.48 These regulations also apply to persons who cause hazardous materials to be 
transported in commerce and who perform, or are responsible for performing, a pre-
transportation function.49 “Pre-transportation functions” include “[p]reparing a shipping 
paper.”50 A bill of lading is a shipping paper.51 The completion of shipping papers is governed 

41 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at 2-3.  
42 Id. 
43 Id. at 3-4, 15. 
44 Id. at 15. 
45 49 C.F.R. § 171.1. The Department of Transportation is the primary federal department that regulates the 
transportation of hazardous materials.  49 U.S.C. §§ 5101-5128 (2018). The Secretary of Transportation has 
delegated that authority to PHMSA.  49 C.F.R. § 1.53 (2019). 
46 49 C.F.R. § 173.115(g). 
47 Id. § 172.101 (Methane, refrigerated liquid (cryogenic liquid) or Natural gas, refrigerated liquid (cryogenic 
liquid), with high methane content). 
48 Id. § 171.1 
49 Id. § 171.1(b). 
50 Id. § 171.1(b)(7). 
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by the requirements of subpart C of Part 172.52 These regulations specify the information that is 
to be included on a shipping paper and how it is to appear.  PHMSA’s hazardous materials 
regulations prohibit a person from accepting hazardous material for transportation or transporting 
a hazardous material by highway without receiving a shipping paper prepared in accordance with 
Part 172.53 

OPS’s assertion that the Truck Loading Procedure governs the completion of the Bill of 
Lading is incorrect.  The Truck Loading Procedure governs the transfer of the LNG to a truck 
consistent with Part 193.  The completion of the Distrigas Bill of Lading is governed by 
PHMSA’s hazardous materials regulations.  For example, as required under section 
172.202(a)(2), the Distrigas Bill of Lading reflects the Proper Shipping Name of the LNG 
transported via truck from the Terminal as “Natural Gas, Refrigerated Liquid, Cryogenic Liquid 
with High Methane Content.”54 Some of the information relevant to loading a truck, such as tare 
weight, scale number and confirmation that transfer hoses were visually inspected, and 
signatures of the truck driver and Distrigas operator, also happens to be recorded on the Bill of 
Lading.55 This does not mean, however, that the Truck Loading Procedure governs the 
completion of the Bill of Lading. 

The Bill of Lading is a shipping paper that is subject to PHMSA’s hazardous materials 
regulations governing the completion of shipping papers that are required before the LNG is 
transported in commerce by truck. The purpose of Truck Loading Procedure is to ensure the safe 
transfer of LNG from the Terminal tank to the trucks as required under section 193.2513.  The 
Procedure does not, and is not intended to, address requirements pertaining to the preparation of 
shipping papers under PHMSA’s hazardous materials regulations. 

OPS’s unsupported assertions to the contrary are inconsistent with the applicable 
regulations. 

b. The Truck Loading Procedure Is Used by Trained Personnel and Is 
Appropriately Clear 

OPS’s claim that the Truck Loading Procedure should be written so that “anyone” or 
“someone who is unfamiliar with this process” can understand them or that “any personnel” can 
use them to complete a Bill of Lading is misplaced.  This procedure, like all other procedures at 
the Terminal, is intended to be used by Terminal personnel who have been trained regarding the 
requirements of Part 193 and to perform specific tasks in compliance with Part 193.  The only 
personnel who are permitted to load trucks with LNG are those who have been trained to 
perform that task.  These personnel understand the identities of the Shipper and the Carrier on 
the Bill of Lading and which entity is required to sign which box on the Bill of Lading.  

51 Id. § 171.8 (“Shipping paper means a shipping order, bill of lading, manifest or other shipping document serving 
a similar purpose and prepared in accordance with subpart C of Part 172 of this chapter.”) 
52 Id. Part 172, Subpart C. 
53 Id. § 177.817(a). 
54 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at Attachment 1. 
55 Id. at 3, 15.  

10 



 

 

  
     

  
 
   

  
 

   
 
     

   
 

 
   

  
 

 
     

     
   

     
   

 
      

 
 

 
   

 
 

  
   

   
    

  
   

 
   

  
   

    
    

 
                                                 

    
     
    

Subpart H of Part 193 describes extensive personnel qualifications and training 
requirements for personnel who work at an LNG Terminal.56 The following are several 
examples that are relevant to this proceeding:  

• Section 193.2705 requires that “[s]upervisors and other personnel utilized for 
construction, installation, inspection, or testing” demonstrate “their capability to 
perform satisfactorily the assigned function by appropriate training in the methods 
and equipment to be used or related experience and accomplishments.” 

• Section 193.2707(a) requires that Distrigas use for operation or maintenance of 
components “only those personnel who have demonstrated their capability to perform 
their assigned functions.” 

• Section 193.2707(b) prohibits any person who does not meet the requirements of 
Section 193.2707(a) from operating or maintaining a component unless accompanied 
by someone who does meet the requirements. 

• Section 193.2713(a) requires that Distrigas implement a written plan of initial training 
to among other things instruct “all operating and appropriate supervisory personnel --
(i) to understand detailed instructions on the facility operations, including controls, 
functions, and operating procedures; and (ii) to understand the LNG transfer 
procedures provided under Section 193.2513.” 

• Section 193.2713(b) requires that Distrigas have a written plan of continuing 
instruction that is provided at no more than 2-year intervals to ensure personnel stay 
current on the knowledge and skills from the initial training program. 

• Section 193.2717 requires that all operations and maintenance personnel and 
supervisors be trained on fire protection. 

In addition to Part 193’s requirements for training Terminal personnel, PHMSA’s 
hazardous materials regulations prohibit a carrier from transporting a hazardous material by 
motor vehicle unless each employee involved in the transportation is trained.57 In addition, as 
noted above, a carrier is prohibited from accepting hazardous material for transportation or 
transporting a hazardous material by highway without receiving a shipping paper prepared in 
accordance with Part 172.58 

OPS’s claim regarding the intended audience for Distrigas’s Truck Loading Procedure 
lacks support and is without merit. Only trained personnel are permitted to load trucks with 
LNG or perform any task described in the Truck Loading Procedure.  These personnel, as well as 
the trained truck driver who will be shipping the LNG in commerce, understand the identities of 
the Operator, Shipper, and Carrier. 

56 49 C.F.R. Part 193, Subpart H. 
57 Id. Part 172, Subpart H and § 177.800(c) and § 177.816. 
58 Id. § 177.817(a). 
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OPS has not identified any official Bill of Lading record missing a signature, including a 
signature verifying the visual inspection of the transfer hoses.  OPS completely overlooks the 
fact that every Bill of Lading executed at the time trucks were loaded at the Terminal contained 
all required signatures, including signatures of Distrigas personnel who were attesting to the fact 
that the transfer hoses had been visually inspected.59 

OPS has not met its burden of proving that the Truck Loading Procedure was inadequate 
and the NOA must be withdrawn.60 

C. The Region Did Not Have Authority to Close the NOA Proceeding While 
Distrigas’s Request for Hearing Was Pending  

On November 18, 2019, the Region Director issued a letter purporting to close this NOA 
Proceeding even though Distrigas had filed a request for a hearing challenging the basis of the 
NOA.61 The Region Director attempted to justify the Closure Letter by asserting that the revised 
Truck Loading Procedure provided by Distrigas on June 25, 2019 and the Record Retention 
Procedure, provided on November 13, 2019, “corrected” inadequacies alleged in the NOA.62 

In its Pre-Hearing Brief, Distrigas demonstrated that closing the NOA proceeding while 
Distrigas’s request for hearing was pending violated the Pipeline Safety Act and PHMSA’s 
regulations, both of which provide a Respondent the right to respond to an NOA and request a 
hearing to challenge the merits of an NOA.63 Distrigas also argued that the Closure Letter’s 
statement that Distrigas had “corrected” the alleged inadequacies implicitly assumes that the 
NOA’s allegations are true, even though they were subject to a challenge.64 The Region’s 
assumption is confirmed by OPS’s Pre-Hearing Submission which states that “[t]he Region 
reaffirms its position that closing an NOA is the appropriate course of action once all apparent 
inadequacies appear to have been addressed.”65 

OPS also claims in its Pre-Hearing Submission that “[f]or cases where there are no 
outstanding adversarial issues (allegations of inadequacies) it is common practice for Regional 
Directors to close NOAs,”66 and that the “Regional Director has an inherent discretion to stop 

59 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at Attachment 1. 
60 In re ExxonMobil, 2019 WL3734516 at **4-5 (ordering withdrawal of allegations where OPS failed to prove that 
Respondent engaged in the conduct that would constitute a violation); In re Air Prods., 2015 WL 6758819 at *3 
(withdrawing alleged violation because PHMSA did not produce “any evidence to support its position” and thereby 
did not meet its burden of proof). 
61 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at Attachment 16. 
62 Id. 
63 Id. at 17-18 (citing 49 U.S.C. § 60108(a)(2) and 49 C.F.R. § 190.206(a)). 
64 Id. at 18 and Attachment 16 (“My staff reviewed the amended procedures submitted on June 25, 2019 and the 
Record Retention procedures submitted on November 13, 2019, and it appears that the inadequacies outlined in this 
Notice of Amendment have been corrected.”) (emphasis added). 
65 OPS Pre-Hearing Submission Attachment at 2. 
66 Id. at 1.  
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pursuing any enforcement case originally brought and thereby close it.”67 In support, OPS 
identified three proceedings where the Region Director had closed NOAs.68 

During the Hearing, OPS placed significant emphasis on the fact that Distrigas had 
submitted the June 25, 2019 revised Truck Loading Procedure after the inspection, asserting that 
Distrigas submitted the revised procedure for the purpose of addressing “an inadequacy” 
identified by the Inspector.69 In addition, OPS emphasized Distrigas’s submission of the Record 
Retention Procedure on November 13, 2019.70 

OPS’s reliance on these submissions, however, do not support issuance of the Closure 
Letter as a matter of either fact or law. First, the Region’s claim in the Closure Letter that the 
Record Retention procedure (updated June 6, 2016) submitted on November 13, 2019 
“corrected” the alleged “inadequacies”71 is undermined by OPS’s admission at the hearing that 
the procedure existed at the time of the inspection and addressed the alleged inadequacies in the 
NOA.72 Because the inadequacies never existed, they could not be subsequently “corrected” by 
providing the Inspector with a copy of the same procedure that was available and reviewed 
during the inspection.  The Closure Letter’s assertion cannot be sustained.73 

Second, reliance on Distrigas’s submission of the June 25, 2019 procedure after the 
inspection, but before issuance of the NOA, cannot be used to justify closing the proceeding.  
The Pipeline Safety Act and PHMSA’s regulations provide any Respondent with the opportunity 
to respond to an NOA, challenge its merits, and exercise the right to request a hearing.74 

Submitting a revised procedure after the inspection and before issuance of the NOA does not 
void this right, especially when the NOA raised record retention issues not identified during the 
post-inspection verbal briefing75 or in the post-inspection correspondence.76 

In this proceeding, Distrigas requested a hearing to challenge the merits of the NOA. 
Distrigas did not file amended procedures after the NOA was issued or withdraw the request for 
a hearing. Therefore, contrary to OPS’s Pre-Hearing Submission, adversity existed in this 
proceeding at the time the Closure Letter was issued.  In fact, adversity continues to exist.  The 
Pipeline Safety Act and PHMSA’s regulations provided Distrigas the right to challenge the 

67 Id. at 2. 
68 OPS Pre-Hearing Submission at 1. 
69 Hearing Transcript at 34-37, 39-40. 
70 Id. at 26-28, 30. 
71 Distrigas Pre-Hearing Br. at Attachment 16. 
72 See supra, Section II.A. 
73 In re ExxonMobil, 2019 WL3734516 at **4-5 (ordering withdrawal of allegations where OPS failed to prove that 
Respondent engaged in the conduct that would constitute a violation); In re Air Prods. 2015 WL 6758819 at *3 
(withdrawing alleged violation because PHMSA did not produce “any evidence to support its position” and thereby 
did not meet its burden of proof). 
74 49 U.S.C. § 60108(a)(2) and 49 C.F.R. § 190.206(a). 
75 Valerio Affidavit at ¶ 17 (“In addition to the above concerns regarding the Bills of Lading, I was concerned that 
EMT-05 did not have a record retention provision. This concern was not specifically discussed during the verbal 
exit briefing but was included in the NOA.”) (emphasis added). 
76 See supra, Section II.A at 5. 
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merits of the NOA in a hearing.  This right also is reflected in Section 4 of PHMSA’s Pipeline 
Safety Enforcement Procedures which explicitly state that “[i]f an operator requests a hearing, 
one must be held, unless the case is withdrawn for other reasons.”77 Contrary to the suggestion 
in OPS’s Pre-Hearing Submission, the Region cannot ignore Distrigas’s request for a hearing and 
simply declare that this case presents “no outstanding adversarial issues,” and foreclose 
Distrigas’s ability to exercise that right. 

The cases cited in OPS’s Pre-Hearing Submission do not support OPS’s position.  None 
of them involve circumstances where a Respondent filed a request for hearing.  In two of the 
proceedings cited by OPS, PHMSA found that because the Respondent had not requested a 
hearing, the right was waived.78 In the third proceeding cited by OPS, the Respondent did not 
contest the allegations and did not request a hearing.79 By contrast, Distrigas has filed a request 
for a hearing. Issuing the Closure Letter while the request was pending was effectively the same 
thing as unilaterally waiving Distrigas’s right to a hearing and denying Distrigas the process 
afforded by section 190.206(b) of PHMSA’s regulations.  

Even though the Presiding Official convened a hearing regarding the NOA in this case, 
the Region’s Closure Letter adversely affects Distrigas because the Closure Letter implicitly 
assumed that Distrigas’s Truck Loading Procedure is inadequate and then found that Distrigas 
had “corrected” the alleged inadequacies.  The Closure Letter therefore gives the false 
impression that Distrigas’s Truck Loading Procedure was inadequate to ensure safety at the 
Terminal and reflects a blemish on Distrigas’s compliance record in a public docket.  The finding 
also is considered a prior enforcement action in a potential future proceeding.  Rescinding and 
withdrawing the Closure Letter properly recognizes that, when a Respondent files a request for 
hearing, a Region, which is the entity advancing the allegation, cannot short circuit the 
enforcement process by making premature findings regarding the merits of the pending 
allegations. Rather, the matter must be properly adjudicated before a Presiding Official with the 
Associate Administrator making a determination under section 190.206(b).80 

The Closure Letter should be rescinded and withdrawn regardless of the outcome of the 
merits of this proceeding, including if the Associate Administrator sustains the NOA. In that 
circumstance, section 190.106(b) provides that proper action is for the Associate Administrator 
to issue an Order Directing an Amendment.  A closure letter would be an appropriate action only 
after all issues in the proceeding are resolved. 

77 Pipeline Safety Enforcement Procedures, Section 4, at 75. 
78 In re Enterprise Products Operating LLC, Order Directing Amendment, CPF No. 1-2017-5021M (Oct. 15, 2018); 
In re Magellan Terminals Holdings, L.P., Order Directing Amendment, CPF No. 1-2016-6001M (Apr. 18, 2017). 
79 Letter of Gregg Johnson, Dir. of Pipeline Compliance, Targa Resources Corp., to Allan C. Beshore, Dir. Central 
Region, OPS, CPF No. 3-2019-6005M at 5-6 (Oct. 25, 2019). 
80 49 C.F.R. § 190.206(b) (“After considering all material presented in writing or at the hearing, if applicable, the 
Associate Administrator determines whether the plans or procedures are inadequate as alleged. The Associate 
Administrator issues an order directing amendment of the plans or procedures if they are in adequate, or withdraws 
the notice if they are not.”); see also Pipeline Safety Enforcement Procedures, Section 4, at 78-79. 
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Therefore, Distrigas requests that the Associate Administrator rescind and withdraw the 
Closure Letter and make clear that a Region is required to follow the process set forth in the 
regulations when a Respondent files a request for a hearing regarding the merits of an NOA.  

III. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Distrigas requests that PHMSA withdraw the NOA as 
unsupported by either law or fact and rescind and withdraw the Closure Letter.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Susan A. Olenchuk 
Bryn S. Karaus 
Counsel for Distrigas of Massachusetts, LLC 

CC: Ajoke Agboola, Esq., Counsel for the Eastern Region, OPS 
Robert Burrough, Director, Eastern Region, PHMSA 
Susan B. Bergles, Assistant General Counsel, Exelon Corporation 
Edward Gleason, General Manager, Northeast Region, Exelon Generation Company, LLC 
Jonathan Lauck, Plant Manager, Everett LNG Facility, Exelon Generation Company, LLC 
Susan Stritter, Sr. Compliance Specialist, Exelon Generation Company, LLC 

March 9, 2020 
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In the Matter of Distrigas of Massachusetts, LLC 
Deposition of PHMSA Hearing (Hearing Transcript) 
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 DISTRIGAS OF MASSACHUSETTS, L.L.C.

 PHMSA HEARING

 CPF No. 1-2019-3001M 

PHMSA PRESIDING OFFICIAL: KRISTIN BALDWIN

 (Via videoconference)

 The PHMSA Hearing was held on Tuesday, 

January 21, 2020, at 9:00 a.m., at Exelon Corporation, 

1310 Point Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21231, before 

Susan A. Kambouris, Notary Public. 

REPORTED BY: Susan A. Kambouris 

Veritext Legal Solutions 
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830 



Page 2 Page 4 

1 APPEARANCES: 1  P R O C E E D I N G S 

2 2  MS. BALDWIN: So, good morning. My name is 

3  ON BEHALF OF THE RESPONDENT, 3 Kristin Baldwin and I will be the Presiding Official in 

4  EXELON CORPORATION: 4 the matter before us today. This is a hearing in the 

5  SUSAN A. OLENCHUK, ESQUIRE and 5 matter of Distrigas of Massachusetts. The CPF No. is 

6  BRYN KARAUS, ESQUIRE 6 1-2019-3001M. This hearing is authorized by 49 CFR 

7  Van Ness Feldman, LLP 7 Part 190.11 that states, "Upon request of a Respondent, 

8  1050 Thomas Jefferson Street, N.W. 8 an informal hearing will be convened by a dedicated 

9  Washington, D.C. 20007 9 Presiding Official. This hearing will be conducted 

10  Telephone: 202-298-1896 10 informally, without a strict adherence to rules of 

11  Email: sam@vnf.com 11 evidence." 

12 12  As the Presiding Official, I will regulate 

13  ON BEHALF OF PHMSA: 13 the course of the hearing and afford each party an 

14  AJOKE AGBOOLA, ESQUIRE and 14 opportunity to offer facts, statements, and any other 

15  FORREST PITTMAN, ESQUIRE 15 evidence that is relevant to the issues under 

16  Griffin, Murphy & Wiggins, LLP 16 consideration today. The parties may call their own 

17  1912 Sunderland Place, N.W. 17 witnesses and examine the evidence of witnesses 

18  Washington, D.C. 20036-1608 18 presented by the other party. After the evidence in 

19  Telephone: 202-530-7159 19 this case has been presented, I will permit a 

20  Email: aagboola@washlaw.com 20 reasonable discussion of the issues under 

21 21 consideration. I ask that only one person speak at a 

Page 3 Page 5 

1  ATTENDEES 1 time in order to promote a civil discourse. Also, 

2 2 since we are on video conference today, please allow a 

3 EXELON CORPORATION: 3 second or two for the sound to transmit. If you are 

4 4 not being heard, just raise a hand so that I can see 

5 Susan B. Bergles, Assistant General Counsel 5 you. I will be taking notes during this hearing. They 

6 Susan Stritter, Senior Compliance Specialist, 6 are for my personal use only and will not be a part of 

7  Exelon Generation Company, LLC 7 the record. 

8 Edward Gleason, General Manager, Northeast Region, 8  At the conclusion of the hearing, I will 

9  Exelon Generation Company, LLC 9 set a time frame for post-hearing submissions. After 

10 Jonathan Lauck, Plant Manager, Everett LNG Facility, 10 the case file is complete, I will prepare a recommended 

11  Exelon Generation Company, LLC 11 decision, which is then forwarded to the Associate 

12 12 Administrator for issuance of a final Order. 

13 PHMSA Eastern Region (Via videoconference) 13  As this is a video conference, I ask that 

14 Robert Burrough, Director 14 everyone email me a list of participants for this 

15 Michael Springer, Operations Supervisor 15 hearing. I think that's probably the most efficient 

16 Matthew Valerio, General Engineer (Inspector) 16 way to go about it. If there are no questions 

17 17 regarding the hearing procedure, itself, we can begin 

18 18 introducing ourselves. I am not sure who is on the big 

19 19 screen here. Just so you all know, we see you guys 

20 20 side by side. So, we have the Region, and, then, the 

21 21 Respondents. We have a split screen here. So, can we 

2 (Pages 2 - 5) 

Veritext Legal Solutions 
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830 
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1 start with who is in the room for the Respondent? 1 had prepared a statement, here, so I am, more or less, 

2  MS. OLENCHUK: Sure. My name is Susan 2 going to basically read what he had prepared. "So, 

3 Olenchuk, with the law firm, Van Ness Feldman, and with 3 This Notice of Amendment was issued to Distrigas of 

4 my is my colleague, Bryn Karaus, also with Van Nes 4 Massachusetts, LLC on September 17th, 2019 and 

5 Feldman. To my left is Susan Bergles, with the 5 identified one inadequacy, which stemmed from the 

6 Respondent. She is the -- time out here -- Assistant 6 on-site inspection that occurred at the Distrigas 

7 General Counsel for Exelon Corporation, and to her left 7 Everett LNG Terminal on June 11th to June 13th, 2019. 

8 is Jonathan Lauck, who is the Plant Manager at the 8  The inspection included a review of 

9 Everett LNG Terminal, and to his left is our court 9 Distrigas' procedures, records, and a field visit to 

10 reporter. We are transcribing this hearing today and 10 the terminal. The inadequacy was discussed in detail 

11 we will be providing a copy of the transcript when we 11 with Distrigas personnel, Susan Stritter and Anthony 

12 receive it. To my right is Susan Stritter, and she is 12 Scaroge -- sorry if I am mispronouncing that -- during 

13 the Senior Compliance Specialist with Exelon Generation 13 the inspection during the exit briefing on June 13th, 

14 at the Terminal, and to her right is Edward Gleason, 14 2019, and was transmitted via email to Susan Stritter 

15 who is the General Manager, Northeast Region, for 15 through the Verbal Exit Briefing Report on June 25th, 

16 Exelon Generation Company. 16 2019, and through a written Preliminary Findings Report 

17  MS. BALDWIN: Can you repeat the last 17 on August 8th, 2019. During these discussions, 

18 person, Edward -- 18 Distrigas personnel did not refute the inadequacy with 

19  MS. OLENCHUK: Edward Gleason, 19 PHMSA. Additionally, no further information was 

20 G-l-e-a-s-o-n, and he goes by "Archie." 20 provided by Distrigas at these times. 

21  MS. BALDWIN: Okay. So, now, can we 21  The inadequacy stated the following as 

Page 7 Page 9 

1 proceed to the Region for introductions, please? 1 cited from the NOA: "Distrigas' procedures for the 

2  MR. BURROUGH: Sure. This Robert Burrough, 2 maintenance of each component were inadequate. 

3 Director for Eastern Region. 3 Specifically, Distrigas' Everett Marine Terminal 

4  MR. SPRINGER: This is Mike Springer, I am 4 Operating Procedure Manual Truck Loading EMT 0-05, 

5 the Operations Supervisor for the Eastern Region. 5 updated 3/3/18, failed to include adequate guidance on 

6  MR. VOLKOV: Phil Volkov, Paralegal, 6 record keeping for the testing of transfer goods, as 

7 Eastern Region. 7 required by 193.2621B." 

8  MR. BURROUGH: And I think Ajoke mentioned 8  During the inspection, Matt reviewed 

9 Matthew Valerio, the Inspector for this case, is out 9 Distrigas' Procedures and associated 2018 records for 

10 sick today, so he won't be joining us. 10 the testing of transfer hoses before each LNG truck 

11  MS. BALDWIN: Phil, what was your last name 11 loading transfer identified by Distrigas as its Uniform 

12 again? 12 Straight Bill of Lading document. The records 

13  MR. VOLKOV: Volkov, V-o-l-k-o-v. 13 indicated many missing content fields. The procedure 

14  MS. BALDWIN: Thank you. Okay. All right. 14 failed to include the 15 guidance on how to record 

15 So, normally, I begin with the Regional Director and I 15 information on the Bill of Lading record. 

16 allow him to give a general introduction of the case 16  Subsequent to the PHMSA Inspection, 

17 and posture. Mr. Burrough, do you want to proceed with 17 Distrigas provided an updated version of the procedure 

18 that? 18 revised June 25th, 2019; however, this revised 

19  MR. BURROUGH: Sure. I will ask Michael to 19 procedure was sent and modified after the PHMSA 

20 provide that. 20 Inspection, and additionally failed to address 

21  MR. SPRINGER: Right. So, Matt actually 21 record-keeping details listed in the NOA. Therefore, 
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1 Distrigas failed to include adequate guidance in its 1 actually contained -- which is one of the allegations 

2 maintenance procedures on record keeping for its 2 in the NOA -- actually contained all of the necessary 

3 testing of transfer hoses required by Part 193.2621B. 3 record-retention provisions since before the inspection 

4  MR. BURROUGH: And 193.26213B, what we were 4 and issuance of the NOA. The record-retention 

5 concerned with was the visual inspection for damage of 5 provision procedure describes the record-retention 

6 the transfer hoses before each use. 6 period for each inspection and test that's performed 

7  MS. BALDWIN: Do you have anything to add? 7 under Part 193, including the testing and visual 

8  MR. AGBOOLA: No, not at this time. 8 inspection of transfer hoses. This record retention 

9  MS. BALDWIN: So, I will turn it over to 9 procedure was discussed during the inspection and has 

10 the Respondent now. Miss Olenchuk? 10 been available for review since the inspection. The 

11  MS. OLENCHUK: Thank you. So, it is the 11 record-retention procedure contained the guidance that 

12 Region's position -- excuse me -- the Respondent's 12 was alleged to be missing in the NOA since the time of 

13 position that the Region has not met its burden of 13 the inspection --

14 proof of showing that any version of Distrigas' 14  MS. KARAUS: Since before. Sorry. 

15 truck-loading procedure failed to provide adequate 15  MS. OLENCHUK: Thank you. Since before the 

16 guidance on record keeping for the testing of transfer 16 time of the inspection, and to the extent that the 

17 hoses required under the regulation, under 193.2621B. 17 closure letter that the record-retention procedure 

18  First of all, the cited regulation does not 18 attempted to correct any alleged inadequacies in 

19 relate to the testing of transfer hoses. The NOA 19 Distrigas' truck-loading procedure, that is incorrect. 

20 alleges that the truck-loading procedures are 20  Turning, now, to the truck-loading 

21 inadequate because they fail to include adequate 21 procedures, themselves, the Region has not met its 
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1 record-keeping guidance regarding the testing of 1 burden of proving that any of the versions of the 

2 transfer hoses. The regulation that's cited, however, 2 truck-loading procedures are inadequate. Just to 

3 193.2621B references the visual inspection of transfer 3 pause, here, for a second, there are three versions of 

4 hoses, which is an entirely different procedure. 4 the truck-loading procedure that are relevant here. 

5 Testing is performed annually, and it requires 5 The first is the March 13th version of the 

6 disconnecting the hoses, and taking them to another 6 truck-loading procedure, and I believe the NOA has a 

7 facility for testing. Visual inspection is a pre-check 7 typographical error, and refers to a March 3rd version. 

8 activity every time a truck is loaded with LNG, and 8 There was no March 3rd version. So, it should say 

9 it is performed any time a truck is loaded. Because 9 March 13th. So, there was the March 13th version, 

10 the cited regulation does not relate to the activity 10 which was amended on June 6, 2019, before the 

11 referenced in the NOA, the Respondent believes that the 11 inspection occurred, and, so, during the inspection, 

12 NOA should be withdrawn. 12 the version that was being reviewed was the June 6th 

13  Second the truck-loading procedure does 13 version of the truck-loading procedure, and, then, on 

14 not -- even the truck-loading procedure does not relate 14 June 25th, Distrigas amended the June 6th version of 

15 to the testing of transfer hoses. The truck-loading 15 the truck-loading procedure because there had been some 

16 procedure doesn't mention the testing of transfer 16 confusion during the inspection with respect to who the 

17 hoses. Rather, the procedure addresses the visual 17 Shipper and the Carrier are on the Bill of Lading, and, 

18 inspection of the transfer hoses. The NOA identifies 18 so, the purpose -- the sole purpose of the June 25th 

19 no provision in the truck-loading procedure that is 19 Amendment was to clarify the identity of the Shipper 

20 relevant to the testing of transfer hoses. 20 and the Carrier on the Bill of Lading. It was not 

21  Third, the record retention procedure that 21 intended and did not -- it is clear from the 
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1 post-inspection correspondence, it did not attempt to 1 the definition of "Operator, Shipper Per and Carrier 

2 address any alleged inadequacies during the inspection. 2 Per" from the Bill of Lading field records. Here, it 

3  MS. KARAUS: So, if you don't mind, I would 3 is important to understand that the truck-loading 

4 like to jump in here to provide a clarification. 4 facility does not govern the completion of every field 

5  MS. OLENCHUK: Sure. 5 on the Bill of Lading. The transfer of the LNG to the 

6  MS. KARAUS: The March 13th version was 6 trucks, that process generates certain information that 

7 from March 13th, 2018 and the June 6th and June 25th 7 is transferred over to the Bill of Lading, but the 

8 versions were from 2019. The March 3rd -- sorry -- the 8 truck-loading procedure, itself, does not govern the 

9 March 13th, 2018 version was provided to the PHMSA 9 Bill of Lading, which is a commercial document that 

10 Inspector following the inspection because he requested 10 addresses the shipment of the LNG for commercial 

11 it because he wanted the one that had been in effect 11 purposes. So, what the evidence shows is that when 

12 during 2018. So, I just wanted to provide that 12 Distrigas clarified the terms "Shipper" and "Carrier" 

13 background. 13 on the Bill of Lading on June 25th, in order to prevent 

14  MR. AGBOOLA: Can I add a slight 14 further confusion with respect to the meaning of those 

15 clarification? He wanted those records, the 2018 15 terms, but that this clarification was not related to 

16 procedures because the records he reviewed were from 16 the safety of the terminal, and was not an admission of 

17 2018. So, in order to be -- yeah -- reviewing the 17 any adequacy in the procedure. 

18 records that match the -- 18  The fourth alleged omission was who 

19  MS. KARAUS: That makes sense. Thank you. 19 completed and signed off on the Bill of Lading records. 

20 We agree. 20 Section 3.4.2.3 of each version of the procedure states 

21  MS. OLENCHUK: That's correct. So, turning 21 that, "The Operator, Shipper, and the Carrier/Driver 
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1 to the truck-loading procedures, themselves, there were 1 sign and exchange the paperwork at the Scale Room 

2 5 items that were alleged to be missing from the 2 window." So, that was not an omission in the 

3 truck-loading procedure, and, in each case, the 3 procedure. 

4 information either was not missing or is completely 4  Finally, the details of the frequency of 

5 unrelated to the safe transfer of LNG to the tanker 5 completing a Bill of Lading records, this information 

6 truck. So, the first is a record retention 6 is not missing from the procedure because the only 

7 requirement, and we have demonstrated that the 7 purpose for completing a Bill of Lading is when there 

8 record-retention procedure was contained in a 8 is -- to document the shipment of LNG. So, if there is 

9 different -- a separate procedure that existed at the 9 no shipment, there is no need for a Bill of Lading. 

10 time of the inspection, and was discussed and reviewed 10 So, there was no need -- so, the frequency of 

11 at the time of the inspection. So, that element, that 11 completing the Bill of Lading is identified in the 

12 alleged inadequacy or omission is not correct. 12 procedure as whenever a truck is loaded. 

13  The next alleged omission was the 13  The NOA also alleges that there is certain 

14 identification of what form document, name, and number 14 information missing from the Bill of Lading. That 

15 that the LNG truck-loading transfers, and the transfer 15 information is either not missing or is unrelated to 

16 hose visual inspections are to be documented on. In 16 safety or to Part 193. 

17 each version of the procedure, Section 3.1.1.1 17  First, the NOA misconstrues the 

18 identifies the Bill of Lading as the document that is 18 relationship between the truck-loading procedure and 

19 completed when a truck is loaded and on which the 19 the Bills of Lading. As I mentioned earlier, the Bill 

20 visual inspection is documented. 20 of Lading is a commercial document that tracks the 

21  The other -- the third alleged omission was 21 shipment of goods, in this case, LNG, and the 
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1 truck-loading procedure identifies certain information 1 "Carrier Per," they are there. They are not missing 

2 that needs to be recorded on the Bill of Lading, but 2 from the original handwritten Bills of Lading, even 

3 the truck-loading procedure does not govern the content 3 though they don't appear on the computer printout, the 

4 of the Bill of Lading or how its completed, and there 4 computer reprint, but they couldn't have appeared on 

5 is a difference between those two. 5 the computer reprint duplicate because the truck driver 

6  So, with respect to the signatures in the 6 was not there because the shipments had occurred weeks 

7 "Carrier Per" field, those signatures are not missing. 7 earlier. 

8 So, here, it's important to understand what happened 8  MS. KARAUS: So, I would just like to make 

9 during October 1 to October 12th. So, on October 1, 9 one final point. So, for the period from October 1st 

10 Distrigas, there was a corporate transaction, and 10 to October 12th, the official record for purposes of 

11 Distrigas became owned by Exelon, and for the first 12 11 the truck-loading procedure, the official record of the 

12 days of October of 2018 -- excuse me -- thank you -- as 12 safety inspection for the transfer hoses is the 

13 the computers for Exelon and Distrigas were being 13 handwritten version of the Bill of Lading, which was 

14 integrated, the truck-loading computer was not 14 properly maintained, and which contained all of the 

15 operating, and, so, during that 12-day period, 15 necessary signatures. The only Bills of Lading that 

16 Distrigas was completing the bills of lading by hand 16 were missing any signatures were the duplicates which 

17 instead of inserting the Bills of Lading into the 17 were generated on October 13th, and those were only 

18 computer, and having a computer-generated version. As 18 generated for commercial purposes, and not for purposes 

19 each Bill of Lading was completed, both the truck 19 of the PHMSA's safety records. 

20 driver and Distrigas signed each original handwritten 20  MS. OLENCHUK: So, another item that was 

21 Bill of Lading. 21 alleged to be missing from the Bill of Lading is 
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1  On October 13th, 2018, the Commercial 1 whether or not a -- they are called empty hot tank 

2 Department of Exelon requested that each of the 2 fields. So, on the Bill of Lading, the box that's 

3 handwritten Bills of Lading be entered into the 3 marked "hot" is only checked on the -- this was on the 

4 computer. What happens is, when it is entered into the 4 handwritten version -- is only checked if a truck is 

5 computer, the Commercial Department takes that 5 hot, meaning that it has been unloaded for over 48 

6 information, and they use it for commercial purposes 6 hours, and is, in effect, cold, and the reason that's 

7 and for inventory management purposes. So, on the 13th 7 important is because a truck is loaded differently 

8 of October, 2018, when the computer became operational 8 depending on whether it's hot or not hot. So, if the 

9 again, they requested that Distrigas enter all of the 9 procedure -- a Bill of Lading that does not reflect any 

10 handwritten -- the content of all of the handwritten 10 marking in that box means that the truck is not hot, 

11 Bills of Lading into the computer, and that process 11 and, conversely, any box that is marked with a Y or any 

12 generated a computer-printed duplicate of the 12 kind of marking that indicates that the truck is hot, 

13 handwritten version of the Bill of Lading. Those were 13 that's an important piece of information that is 

14 each signed by Distrigas, who is on the premises. They 14 transferred to the Bill of Lading. But just as 

15 were not signed by the truck driver because these 15 importantly, a box that's not marked -- so, let me say 

16 shipments had occurred earlier in the month, and the 16 it this way: So, when a box is marked, that's a flag 

17 truck driver was not on site on the day that the new 17 for Distrigas that a truck needs to be filled a certain 

18 computerized printouts were generated. So, what the 18 way. An unmarked box signals something entirely 

19 inspector was looking at during the inspection was the 19 different. So, that is not any information that is 

20 computer-generated duplicate of the original 20 missing from any of the Bills of Lading. 

21 handwritten Bills of Lading. So, the signatures of the 21  The final fields that the NOA alleges are 
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1 missing information, load number, out time, trailer 1  MS. KARAUS: Correct. The Section 3.1.1.1 

2 plate, and state, these fields are not related to Part 2 of the truck-loading procedure. 

3 193, and they are not the related to the safe transfer 3  MS. BALDWIN: Of the truck-loading 

4 of LNG from the tank to a truck. So, they have no 4 procedure. 

5 implication with respect to whether or not the 5  MS. KARAUS: Yes. 

6 procedure was inadequate for the safe operation of the 6  MS. BALDWIN: The third one, the 

7 terminal. 7 definitions of "Operator, Shipper Per, Carrier Per," is 

8  But what is important is that all of the 8 the one that you are arguing is not related to the 

9 billable lading contained -- none of them are missing 9 safety of -- you are saying it is not information that 

10 any of the information that is related to safety, and, 10 is relevant to PHMSA's determination of a safety 

11 in particular, every single Bill of Lading reflects the 11 mandate? 

12 signature of Distrigas, which indicates that the visual 12  MS. KARAUS: Not quite. Our argument here 

13 inspection of the transfer hoses was performed, and 13 is that the definition of "Operator, Shipper and 

14 that information is not missing, and that information 14 Carrier Per," those were clarifications that were made 

15 is relevant to Part 193 and to safety. 15 not because Distrigas identified a safety need. There 

16  So, our request is that the NOA be 16 was no misunderstanding from anyone at Distrigas about 

17 withdrawn because the Region has not met its burden of 17 who these people are, or who was supposed to sign on 

18 demonstrating that any version of the truck-loading 18 these fields. These were clarifications that were 

19 procedure was inadequate. 19 offered when -- during the inspection, Mr. Valerio 

20  MS. BALDWIN: So, I just want to understand 20 asked the question of who the Shipper and who the 

21 your argument as to the 5 different inadequacies that 21 Carrier is, but Distrigas and Distrigas' procedures 
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1 are listed on the NOA. As to the failure to provide 1 never contained any ambiguity. This clarification was 

2 record-retention requirements, you say it is contained 2 made as a proactive effort to provide clarity. 

3 in a separate procedure that Distrigas maintains? 3  MS. OLENCHUK: There is one more thing on 

4  MS. KARAUS: Um-hmm. 4 that. So, the terms, "Shipper and Carrier," those are 

5  MS. BALDWIN: May I ask what that procedure 5 standardized nomenclature on any Bill of Lading, 

6 is, if it has been included in your submission? 6 regardless of whether or not it's LNG or any other good 

7  MS. KARAUS: It's No. RC-003. It has been 7 that is being shipped. So, the truck-loading procedure 

8 included in the submission. We will find out which tab 8 reflected that standard nomenclature in the procedure, 

9 number it is. It was also -- 9 and what the June 25th procedure did was just clarify 

10  MS. BALDWIN: I am sorry, is it 10 that on the Bill of Lading, the "Shipper" meant 

11 cross-referenced in the truck-loading procedure here? 11 Distrigas, and the "Carrier" meant the truck driver. 

12  MS. KARAUS: It is not mentioned in the 12  MS. BALDWIN: Okay. The fourth one, who 

13 truck-loading procedure, but that is not necessary. 13 completes, signs off on the Bill of Lading records is 

14  MS. OLENCHUK: It's Attachment 6. 14 in Section 3.4.2.3? 

15  MS. KARAUS: It's Attachment 6 to the 15  MS. KARAUS: Yes. 

16 submission. 16  MS. BALDWIN: Okay. Then, the 5th, the 

17  MS. BALDWIN: So, the second one, 17 details of the frequency of completing Bill of Lading 

18 "Identification of what form documents LNG 18 records, so, you are saying there is no need to be 

19 truck-loading transfers and visual inspections are to 19 specific because they are completed whenever the 

20 be documented on," you said that is addressed in 20 shipment --

21 Section 3.1.1.1? 21  MS. KARAUS: Yes, whenever a shipment is 
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1 made. 1 and, unfortunately, Matt is not here to state for 

2  MS. BALDWIN: Okay. Miss Agboola? 2 himself, but we did discuss this. He never reviewed 

3  MS. AGBOOLA: There were a lot of things 3 the record-retention procedures. The record-retention 

4 that were just discussed, so I am going to try and 4 procedures are not listed in the NOA. They are not 

5 address each one of them. So, please bear with me. 5 listed in the verbal exit briefing. They are not 

6  First, before I get into addressing the 6 listed in any of the emails between Distrigas and 

7 specific arguments raised by Distrigas, I want to focus 7 PHMSA. The first time that PHMSA reviewed the 

8 us on what the regulation says and requires. Distrigas 8 record-retention procedures was on November 13th, after 

9 was cited for an NOA which identifies apparent 9 having an informal meeting with Distrigas. After 

10 inadequacies under 1932605, Maintenance Procedures, 10 reviewing the record-retention procedures, the Eastern 

11 specifically B1. 1932605B states, "Each operator shall 11 Region willingly, you know, recognized, okay, these --

12 follow one or more manuals and procedures for the 12 some of the alleged inadequacies. Some of the examples 

13 maintenance of each component, including any required 13 that were provided were, in fact, addressed by the 

14 corrosion control. The procedures must include: 1. 14 record-retention procedure, but at no time were the 

15 The details of the inspections or tests determined 15 record-retention procedures reviewed during the 

16 under Paragraph A of this section, and their frequency 16 inspection, and that is why it is the first thing 

17 of performance; and, 2, which was also in the NOA, "A 17 listed in the NOA. 

18 description of other actions necessary to maintain the 18  MS. BALDWIN: Can I stop you so I get the 

19 LNG Plant according to the requirements of the 19 time? One second. So, at the time of the 

20 subpart." 20 inspection -- I realize you are speaking for the 

21  When Distrigas claims that the cited 21 inspector since he is not here. He reviewed the 2018 
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1 regulatory provision does not relate to the testing of 1 and 2019 versions of the truck-loading procedures? 

2 transfer hoses, the Region finds that argument to be 2  MS. AGBOOLA: He reviewed the 2019 

3 inadequate for a variety of reasons. 1932621, the 3 truck-loading procedures, and after the inspection, 

4 title of that regulation is, "Testing of Transfer 4 because of records that were reviewed were from 2018, 

5 Hoses." That's the title of the regulation. It has 5 he asked for the 2018 transfer truck-loading procedures 

6 two parts, it has A and B. A is for the annual testing 6 that would have been in effect at the time that the 

7 of transfer hoses, while B is for the visual inspection 7 records were created. He received those records after 

8 of transfer hoses before each use. The Region 8 the inspection. So, the inspection was June 11th to 

9 specifically identified B as the subject of this NOA. 9 June 13th, and I think he received those records about 

10 It specifically quoted B, and while it discusses the 10 two weeks after the inspection ended. 

11 testing of transfer hoses, that's not an inadequate way 11  MS. BALDWIN: So, prior to the issuance of 

12 to discuss B. The overall title of the regulation is, 12 the NOA, those were the only procedures --

13 "Testing of Transfer Hoses." So, I don't think that 13  MS. AGBOOLA: Prior to the issuance of the 

14 the NOA can be dismissed under claims that the 14 NOA, the only procedures that the inspector reviewed 

15 procedure that was being discussed in the NOA and the 15 were the truck-loading procedures. 

16 NOA allegations don't match, and that it's not related 16  MS. BALDWIN: Irrespective of the year? 

17 to transfer hoses. It is very clear from the text of 17  MS. AGBOOLA: Uh-huh. 

18 the NOA that the issue being discussed is a visual 18  MS. BALDWIN: After the issuance of the 

19 inspection of transfer hoses. 19 NOA --

20  I think the next argument was regarding the 20  MS. AGBOOLA: November 13th. 

21 record-retention procedures. During the inspection -- 21  MS. BALDWIN: -- November 13th, he, the 
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1 inspector, asked for -- 1 Affidavit to the effect describing what I was taking 

2  MS. AGBOOLA: We had an informal meeting, 2 notes on. My notes show that he did ask Sue and Tony, 

3 and during that meeting, Distrigas explained that they 3 who was then the plant manager, whether they had a 

4 keep all of their record-retention requirements in a 4 procedure for record retention for all tests and 

5 separate procedure, and, so, we asked to see that 5 inspections that are done at the facility, and Sue 

6 procedure, and they provided it to us, and after 6 responded, "Yes," and we then showed the inspector our 

7 reviewing that procedure, you know, we realized that, 7 C-0038, which is the same procedure which was provided 

8 okay, one of the examples of what the procedures failed 8 by email on November 14th, 2019. So, I think one 

9 to provide had been addressed. They do have a 9 reason why this may have been forgotten is because it 

10 procedure that details the record retention 10 was looked at during the inspection, and it was a 

11 requirements and the details of the frequency for 11 non-event, because it was an adequate procedure. So, 

12 completing the Bill of Lading records. That is all in 12 maybe he didn't write down that they looked at it, 

13 the record-retention procedures. 13 because they looked at it, and it was fine. That's 

14  MS. BALDWIN: But it was not a new 14 just a guess. I probably shouldn't be guessing on 

15 procedure? The Region is not alleging that this 15 behalf of Matt, but my notes do show that we did show 

16 procedure was created for the purposes of satisfying 16 it to him. 

17 this NOA? This is a procedure that they failed to give 17  My legal argument -- oh, sorry. 

18 you at the time of the inspection until the November 18  MS. BALDWIN: No, go ahead. 

19 13th -- 19  MS. KARAUS: My legal argument is simply 

20  MS. AGBOOLA: Yes. 20 that the lack of him asking for a procedure is not 

21  MS. BALDWIN: So, on the basis of that 21 evidence of a lack of that procedure existing. That 
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1 document, the Region made a decision to close the NOA? 1 procedure was in place. It was in place well before. 

2  MS. AGBOOLA: Yes. 2 It had last been edited in 2016, and it had been 

3  MS. BALDWIN: I understand. I don't know 3 reviewed in -- I believe the most recent time it was 

4 if Miss Olenchuk or Miss Karaus? 4 reviewed was September of 2018, which is after the 

5  MS. KARAUS: Thank you very much. I have 5 inspection, but the point is, it had been reviewed, and 

6 both a factual and a legal argument to respond to that. 6 it had been in use before the inspection took place. 

7 I happen to -- well, during the inspection, we knew 7 That's it. Thank you. 

8 that the inspection was going to be three days, and 8  MS. BALDWIN: Prior to the issuance of the 

9 because we had -- it's a new facility for Exelon, and 9 NOA, did the inspectors send a request for the 

10 they were new to the whole PHMSA Inspection process. 10 procedure to any of your people at Exelon? 

11 They had engaged Susan and I to help them review their 11  MS. KARAUS: Not according to our records 

12 compliance procedures, review their -- just to get 12 and our memory, no. 

13 ready for the PHMSA Inspection, and, so, as a result, 13  MS. BALDWIN: How did the meeting in 

14 Susan, Susan, and I, we organized ourselves, and we 14 November come about? Did you ask? Did Exelon ask for 

15 were in attendance -- one of us was in attendance for 15 the meeting? 

16 each day of that inspection. I do realize that you are 16  MS. AGBOOLA: No, I asked for the meeting. 

17 working at a disadvantage because Matt isn't there, and 17 We generally don't have hearings on NOA's. It is 

18 I don't mean to step on anybody's toes, but I was there 18 fairly rare if you look at PHMSA's enforcement history 

19 on the first day of the inspection, along with Sue 19 and the kind of cases that we have. So, I asked for an 

20 Stritter, who is in the room with me. I took notes and 20 informal meeting to try and resolve the issues in this 

21 my notes show -- and I would be happy to provide an 21 case before going to a hearing, and during that 
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1 meeting, we discussed a lot of things, and one of the 1  MS. AGBOOLA: Yes. I mean, I understand 

2 things that we discussed was the record retention 2 that they don't view that as an inadequacy, that they 

3 requirements, and that's the first -- I was told -- I 3 viewed that as a clarification for the inspector's 

4 can't speak for Matt -- I was told that was the first 4 sake. 

5 time he saw the procedures, and I know the first 5  MS. BALDWIN: She said that they clarified 

6 time -- or, Michael and Rob, was that the first time 6 the identity of the Shipper on the Bill of Lading. 

7 you saw the record-retention procedures? 7  MS. AGBOOLA: It's in the procedures. So, 

8  MR. BURROUGH: Correct. 8 the June -- the old procedures, when you look at 3.1, 

9  MS. AGBOOLA: So, Matt is the inspector, 9 don't discuss -- they don't have the same terminology 

10 Michael and Robert were obviously his supervisors, and 10 that you find on the Bill of Lading. So, the old 

11 they would have reviewed the case, and the evidence 11 procedures say, "The Operator's full signature on the 

12 provided in the case before the issuance of the NOA. I 12 Bill of Lading indicates that the truck-load hoses have 

13 wasn't at the inspection, but I will say, regardless of 13 been visually inspected." Then, the new procedures 

14 whether the record-retention procedures were provided 14 have a note, and it says that, "The truck loading 

15 or not does not invalidate the NOA. The NOA identified 15 requires continuous Operator/Shipper." So, like, they 

16 several inadequacies, and record retention was one of 16 updated their procedures so that every time you see 

17 them. There is no doubt or, like, dispute that 17 "Operator," you also see the technology that's on the 

18 Distrigas clarified, updated, revised, whatever you 18 Bill of Lading form, so that it's consistent that it 

19 want to call it, Distrigas made changes to their 19 matches. I understand that the Operator feels that 

20 procedures after our inspection, after our verbal exit 20 they did that as a clarification to the inspector, 

21 briefing to clarify, as they call it, certain -- what 21 Matt; however, that wasn't necessary. The inspection 
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1 we would call -- inadequacies. The procedures state 1 was completed. The inspection was June 11th through 

2 the Bill of Lading form is the form that they are going 2 June 13th, and they updated their procedures after the 

3 to use to document compliance with 1932621B. That's 3 verbal exit briefing. It's not uncommon in any 

4 what their procedures say. Our inspector looked at the 4 enforcement action, frankly, from an NOA to a CAO for 

5 Bill of Lading form, and looked at the procedure, and 5 Operators to proactively start addressing PHMSA's 

6 noticed that certain terminology was inconsistent, that 6 concern in advance of an enforcement document being 

7 the Bill of Lading form had "Carrier and Shipper," but 7 issued; however, if PHMSA identifies an inadequacy in 

8 didn't -- the procedures didn't have those terms, and 8 the case of an NOA or a probable violation in the case 

9 he identified that as an inadequacy. That inadequacy 9 of a NOPB during its inspection, then, it always has 

10 was corrected after the inspection. 10 the right to issue an enforcement document. In this 

11  MS. BALDWIN: So, you are saying the 11 case, we couldn't do what was recently done in the 

12 omitted procedure was not the only basis for the Region 12 Central Region in an NOA case where the Operator 

13 deciding that the NOA -- 13 updated their procedures before the issuance of the 

14  MS. AGBOOLA: Should be issued. 14 NOA. We couldn't just issue it and close it out at the 

15  MS. BALDWIN: It should be that you are 15 same time, because we didn't have the record-retention 

16 going to accept the changes. I think that from the 16 procedures, but once we had those record-retention 

17 Respondent's position, they provided the missing 17 procedures, we did close it out. 

18 procedure, and that was the linchpin to the closure of 18  There was some other --

19 the case. What you are saying is that you also relied 19  MS. KARAUS: May we respond? 

20 on the changes made on June 25th to the truck-loading 20  MS. BALDWIN: Are you --

21 procedure? 21  MS. AGBOOLA: I wasn't done going through 
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1 other things. 1 -- I mean, I know that they disagree on why it was 

2  MS. BALDWIN: Just a second. 2 changed, but that particular inaccuracy was addressed 

3  MS. AGBOOLA: Okay. Where was I? Okay. 3 prior to the issuance of the NOA. 

4 So, I think we have discussed their 5 things that were 4  MS. BALDWIN: Which one? 

5 identified in the NOA as inadequacies. They are just 5  MS. AGBOOLA: No. 3, a definition of 

6 examples. 6 "Operator/Shipper Per and Carrier Per," who completes, 

7  When PHMSA writes it, they always say, 7 signs off on the Bill of Lading records, that was 

8 "such as," so that the Operator knows these things, not 8 related to No. 3, just, who is the Shipper, who is the 

9 all of them have to be in the new procedure, but these 9 Carrier. Once they made the clarification, that was 

10 are the kinds of things, as an example, that the Region 10 addressed, and, then, the details of the frequency of 

11 felt could have improved their procedures. We have 11 completing the Bill of Lading records, that was 

12 already talked the about record retention. 12 addressed in the record-retention procedures. 

13 Identification of what form/document/name, number, the 13  I can't remember. Did I address everything 

14 LNG truck-loading transfers, and transfer divisional 14 that they raised during -- oh, one more thing. They 

15 inspections are to be documented on, that was provided 15 said that there were some statements made that the 

16 because, oftentimes, forms have a particular number 16 truck-loading procedures, and the Bill of Lading, that 

17 with a revision date, and that is what we often see. 17 the truck-loading procedures don't dictate how you fill 

18 So, I think, Michael, can you explain this a little bit 18 out the Bill of Lading. We disagree. The 

19 better for why this was identified as an apparent 19 truck-loading procedures walk through what -- you know, 

20 inadequacy? 20 who is supposed to sign the Bill of Lading, and what 

21  MR. SPRINGER: Yeah, I think you are kind 21 that -- the signature is supposed to represent. Also, 
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1 of getting to it there. We are just, you know, it is 1 while the Bill of Lading may be a commercial document, 

2 very common to see, you know, as you say, a revision 2 that's fine. There is nothing permitting this document 

3 date, a version number on a procedure, that kind of 3 from serving multiple purposes, but the Bill of Lading 

4 thing, and for that to be specifically referenced in 4 is a document that Distrigas has chosen to use to 

5 the procedure, you know, these documents, the records 5 demonstrate that they are in compliance with 1932621B. 

6 that are used, they often go through revisions, and we 6 It's important that it's filled out correctly, and that 

7 think it's important that they are to be kind of, you 7 the signatures are there in order to demonstrate 

8 know, an agreement between the procedure and the 8 safety, and to insure that their personnel are safe, 

9 current version of whatever record form is being used 9 and that the hoses that they are using are safe. 

10 so that, you know, there is no confusion to the person 10  I think there are a lot of things, but I 

11 who is trying to follow that procedure on which version 11 think that covers most of it. Thank you. 

12 of the form I am supposed to be using, and that there 12  MS. BALDWIN: I have a question. Miss 

13 is consistency in the way that things are being 13 Karaus, go ahead. 

14 documented. So, it's just something that's, you know, 14  MS. KARAUS: Should we address your 

15 commonly seen during PHMSA inspection, commonly seen in 15 question? 

16 Operator's procedures that we would hope would just 16  MS. BALDWIN: Yes. I see under Tab, 1 you 

17 bring better clarity to Distrigas' procedure in this 17 have the Bills of Lading. I would like to know which 

18 case. 18 of these the Region inspected and found --

19  MS. AGBOOLA: Thank you. A definition of 19  MS. KARAUS: During the --

20 "Operator/Shipper Per" and "Carrier Per" apart from the 20  MS. BALDWIN: Which were reviewed during 

21 Bill of Lading records, that was corrected prior to the 21 the time of inspection, so that I can be crystal clear 
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1 about what change you mean, and what inadequacy he 1 clarification was also in the pre-hearing statement. 

2 found. It seems to be it was not crystal clear who was 2 You would notice that when they say, "Operator," they 

3 the Shipper, who was the Operator from the records. 3 have, slash "Shipper." 

4 So, I would like to be able, at the end of the day, to 4  MS. BALDWIN: Who would be the Shipper on 

5 assess whether or not that was a reasonable concern 5 their own Bill of Lading? I guess I am trying to 

6 based on the original document that he needed at the 6 understand. Can the Operations Supervisor -- can you 

7 time of the inspection. 7 stand here and explain to me what the confusion was, 

8  MS. KARAUS: As kind of a fundamental 8 vis-a-vis the procedure, and was actually on the Bill 

9 clarification point -- and I am sorry to step in. I 9 of Lading from an inspector's standpoint? 

10 just want to make sure that we are all clear. There 10  MR. AGBOOLA: So --

11 hasn't been a change to the actual Bill of Lading form. 11  MS. BALDWIN: Just one second. 

12 The change was to the truck-loading procedure. So, 12  MR. AGBOOLA: Michael, can you --

13 it's not multiple versions of the Bill of Lading form 13  MR. SPRINGER: I don't know if I can speak 

14 that is at issue here. 14 to exactly how the concern was conveyed during the 

15  MS. AGBOOLA: So -- and I can walk through 15 inspection confusion. It's my understanding, you know, 

16 that a little bit. If you open to Tab 1 and look at 16 that records were reviewed, and it was noted that there 

17 the first handwritten Bill of Lading form, you will see 17 was some missing content fields in some of those 

18 the signature at the bottom for "Shipper Per" and 18 records, which led to kind of the discussion about what 

19 "Carrier Per." The procedures from 2018 specifically 19 the procedure was. You know, it was noted that, you 

20 say, "Operator's full signature on the Bill of Lading 20 know, the records, themselves, speak to Operator's 

21 indicates that the truck load hoses have been visually 21 signature, indicating a visual inspection had been 
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1 inspected." So, that's a requirement that would have 1 completed. You have got -- he was being "Shipper Per" 

2 been used to fulfill 1932621B; however, the Bill of 2 and "Carrier Per," and there was basically a need for 

3 Lading document doesn't have Operator's signature 3 clarification in the procedure on basically who that 

4 anywhere here. Like, there is no Operator on the Bill 4 means the Operator is so that he can verify which 

5 of Lading. So, there was an inconsistency between the 5 signature tells him the visual inspection occurred, 

6 procedure and the form. 6 because if it was the Carrier, the initial records that 

7  MS. BALDWIN: Do you have a copy of the 7 he reviewed, notwithstanding the fact that we 

8 procedure here? 8 understand that those were duplicative, I guess, you 

9  MS. KARAUS: It is in the book. I believe 9 know. He had seen "Carrier Per" lack of signatures, 

10 it's Tab -- 10 and for potential of that to men the Operator is kind 

11  MS. BALDWIN: Point me to it, please. 11 of what led to the confusion. 

12  MS. KARAUS: Tab 2 has the March 13th, 2018 12  MS. BALDWIN: Do you have a copy of the 

13 version. If you look at -- 13 Operator's pre-hearing submission in front of you? 

14  MS. OLENCHUK: The version that was 14  MR. SPRINGER: I do on my computer, yes. 

15 reviewed during the inspection is under Tab 3, which is 15  MS. BALDWIN: Is it the electronic version, 

16 the June 6th version. 16 is it tabbed in a similar way or is it just 

17  MS. AGBOOLA: They are all -- this is the 17 attachments? 

18 same language. 3.1.1.1, "Operator's full signature on 18  MS. OLENCHUK: It has attachments, but they 

19 the Bill of Lading indicates that the truck load hoses 19 should be labeled, "Attachment 1." 

20 have been visually inspected." If you look at the new 20  MS. BALDWIN: So, can you look at 

21 procedures, there is a clarification, and that 21 Attachment 3, please? I want to look at the original 

12 (Pages 42 - 45) 

Veritext Legal Solutions 
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830 



Page 46 Page 48 

1 procedure. I think what I am hearing -- and perhaps I 1 sending him an email file containing a sample of the 

2 am wrong, because I went through the original 2 Shipper paperwork, as well as the handwritten Bill of 

3 procedure, and during the inspection, the inspector 3 Lading, and the computer-generated Bill of Lading to 

4 came out, and he saw a form which had been manually 4 help demonstrate and explain to him what had occurred. 

5 transmitted, and it was missing certain fields. So, he 5 The ones he saw in the email, which happened a day or 

6 wasn't looking at the same thing that we are looking at 6 two after the inspection, contained both the 

7 now, which were the handwritten copies that were 7 handwritten version, which contained both sets of 

8 handwritten for those 12 days that they were changing 8 signatures, as well as the computer-generated version, 

9 ownership for whatever reason. 9 which had initially sparked the question -- had 

10  MS. OLENCHUK: Right. 10 initially sparked the idea for, I think, Mr. Valerio, 

11  MS. BALDWIN: So, he has not had the 11 that there was a signature missing from some of the 

12 benefit of looking at these handwritten Bills of 12 records. Does that explain it? 

13 Lading, is that correct? 13  MS. BALDWIN: I mean, what she said 

14  MR. SPRINGER: Yes, that's my 14 earlier, you know, they were undergoing a transfer of 

15 understanding. 15 the ownership from Distrigas to Exelon. For that 

16  MS. STRITTER: When he was there, he saw 16 reason, that was 12 days, and you happened to review 

17 two separate sets. He saw the one -- 17 records from -- that were impacted for those 12 days 

18  MS. BALDWIN: So, he did see 18 that were missing some of the fields. So, I mean --

19 the handwritten? 19  MS. AGBOOLA: Yeah. So, we are not 

20  MS. STRITTER: No, he saw the reprints 20 alleging that they improperly filled out the Bill of 

21 without a second signature, he saw the computerized 21 Lading. That would have been a violation of that. 
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1 generated ones that had both signatures. When he left, 1  MS. BALDWIN: Yes. So, we are not going 

2 we had found right before he left, the originals, 2 there. 

3 because they were done on a different date. We had to 3  MS. AGBOOLA: No, no, no. We are only -- I 

4 go back and check our records which date it was 4 mean, I think --

5 actually done on. So, we sent them all in an email to 5  MS. BALDWIN: I am trying to understand 

6 him, and then, we had to go through and clarify which 6 from the procedures. I am reading it now. I don't 

7 was which, and the difference between the yellow copy, 7 know that I would have had a question. I mean, 

8 the truck driver, our's, and the original one. 8 obviously, the Shipper is always going to be Distrigas. 

9  MS. KARAUS: So, just to sum up -- let me 9 This is their form. They have their name on the top 

10 see if I am capturing this correctly -- he was 10 left of it. This is their procedures. So, I am trying 

11 initially -- he initially saw the versions that were 11 to understand -- I know we don't have the benefit of 

12 generated by the computer, and those were all dated 12 the inspector here. I understand why he would have a 

13 October 13th. Those contained a signature under 13 question as to these particular forms, because they 

14 Shipper, but they did not contain a signature under 14 were incomplete, and he received them serially, but the 

15 Carrier, and that sparks the question of why there was 15 procedure, itself, I am failing to understand, under 

16 no signature under Carrier, and, then -- this was the 16 Tab 3 of the attachment, what the confusion was as 

17 third day of the inspection -- you went looking through 17 to -- in a way, who was the Operator, who was the 

18 the records to find the initial handwritten versions. 18 Shipper, and who was the Carrier? I mean, the Shipper 

19 Right before he left, you were able to locate those 19 is always going to be Exelon, right? Would the Shipper 

20 handwritten versions, and you engaged in a conversation 20 ever be anyone other than the Exelon? 

21 with him about what had happened, and followed up by 21  MS. OLENCHUK: Correct, it will always be 
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1 Distrigas, the Shipper. 1 Lading? Would it have been confusing to anyone at 

2  MS. BALDWIN: Okay. So, what in this 2 PHMSA who the Operator, the Shipper, or the Carrier was 

3 procedure -- I am trying to understand -- was ambiguous 3 based on what we are looking at here? It says, 

4 or what was the change that -- I understand what you 4 "Operator's signature indicates that the truck load 

5 are saying, there was a change. It appears to be 5 hoses have been visually inspected." There is a date, 

6 despondent to the issue of whether there was an 6 there is a time -- not time, there is Shipper on the 

7 inadequacy in the first place. So, I am trying to 7 left, Carrier on the right. So, again, we can't 

8 figure out from this version to the next. I don't see 8 control the inspector is sick through no fault of 

9 how it is ambiguous. It says, "Operator's full 9 anyone here. I think what would be helpful to me is 

10 signature on the Bill of Lading indicates that the 10 having him submit an Affidavit clarifying what the 

11 truck load hoses have been visually inspected." They 11 basis of his confusion is. That seems to be sort of 

12 are the Operator. They are always going to be the 12 the critical element here. So, Miss Karaus, is there 

13 Shipper. I am looking at the Bill of Lading and this 13 anything else you would like to bring forth at this 

14 hasn't been changed, either. At the top left-hand 14 time? 

15 corner, they have the name of -- they have Distrigas' 15  MS. KARAUS: Yeah, just a couple of points 

16 name. So, I am not understanding what's the inadequacy 16 I would like to add. The update that was done of the 

17 in the procedure. 17 inspection, we don't believe that making that update 

18  MS. AGBOOLA: I can't speak for Matt, but, 18 was any kind of admission the procedure was inadequate 

19 you know, as someone who isn't familiar with shipping 19 from a safety perspective. 

20 documents, I know when I looked at it, I didn't know 20  MS. BALDWIN: I understand. I am just 

21 what everything meant, and, you know, it's not for -- I 21 trying to catch up from my notes because there has been 
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1 don't know if it is for me or for us to say, like, this 1 a lot of discussion. Would everyone appreciate 5 

2 is apparent. The point of your procedures is to help 2 minutes to confer? 

3 anyone understand and I didn't know who the Shipper or 3  MS. KARAUS: Sure. 

4 the Carrier were. 4  (Recess taken -- 10:03 a m.) 

5  MS. BALDWIN: From the Bill of Lading or 5  (After recess -- 10:10 a m.) 

6 from the procedures, because the Bill of Lading -- 6  MS. BALDWIN: We left off with, we were 

7  MS. AGBOOLA: The Bill of Lading and the 7 going to take a break, and confer with the respective 

8 procedures don't use the same terminology. They use 8 parties. I am going to go to both of you and ask if 

9 different terminology. If it had said, "The Shipper's 9 you have anything else to offer based on what we were 

10 signature on the Bill of Lading indicates that the 10 discussing before the break. Miss Agboola? 

11 hoses had been visually inspected," then, someone who 11  MS. AGBOOLA: I will say, again, that when 

12 is unfamiliar with this process can read the procedures 12 I looked at the forms, I didn't know what "Shipper Per" 

13 and look at the Bill of Lading, and say, oh, this makes 13 and "Carrier Per" meant, and how that related to the 

14 sense. I know exactly whose signature I am looking for 14 procedures, at least, the non-updated procedures, and I 

15 to demonstrate that compliance has been achieved. 15 think the point of procedures is to help any personnel 

16 Without knowing what these terms mean, and my 16 regardless of how familiar they are with your forms 

17 understanding of procedures, it is supposed to help 17 fill out the document, and that the regulation is 

18 anyone get from Point A to Point B. I can't speak for 18 focused on the details. It's not just your procedures. 

19 Matt, though. I don't know if Michael or Rob has 19 It specifically says, "Details of your procedures," 

20 anything else to say. All I can say -- 20 and this is a detail that would increase, and does 

21  MS. BALDWIN: Can we look at the Bill of 21 increase the clarity of the truck-loading procedures. 
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1 We will -- you know, Matt is not here. We will get an 1  MS. BALDWIN: So, let me pull out my 

2 Affidavit and include that with our post-hearing brief 2 calendar. Today is the 21st. Let's just say by -- the 

3 so that he can explain, in his own words, what he 3 transcript -- you will provide the transcript by the 

4 thought regarding the differences in terminology 4 latest February 10th. So, going off of that date, 

5 between the Bill of Lading and the procedures. 5 would you -- would the Respondent like the opportunity 

6  MS. BALDWIN: Understood. 6 to submit a post-hearing brief? 

7  MS. OLENCHUK: And on behalf of the 7  MS. KARAUS: Yes, please. 

8 Respondent, I guess we would make one last observation, 8  MS. OLENCHUK: Yes, please. 

9 and that is, with respect to the information that was 9  MS. BALDWIN: So, I would like your 

10 provided to the Region after the inspection. So, 10 post-hearing brief. I will give you until March 9th. 

11 attachments in our pre-hearing submission, Attachments 11  MS. OLENCHUK: Thank you. 

12 8, 9, and 10, and 11, and 12 reflect and describe the 12  MS. BALDWIN: And the Region's post-hearing 

13 information that Distrigas provided to the Region after 13 submission and the regional recommendation will be the 

14 the inspection, and, also, Attachment 1 contains the 14 same document and we will receive those -- let's see --

15 Bills of Lading and the truck-loading slips that were 15 March 9th -- no later than May 4th, 2019. 

16 submitted. So, what these illustrate is the vast 16  MS. OLENCHUK: 2020? 

17 amount of information that was provided, the promptness 17  MS. BALDWIN: Yes. 

18 with which it was provided, and, also, would note that 18  MS. OLENCHUK: That's okay. I am 

19 if the Region had asked for the record-retention 19 correcting my own notes here from 2019 to 2020. 

20 proceeding, it also would have been provided promptly 20  MS. BALDWIN: Yes, 2020. 

21 to the Region. 21  MS. OLENCHUK: But miss Baldwin --
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1  MS. BALDWIN: Thank you. I don't have any 1  MS. BALDWIN: Yes. 

2 further questions. So, if there is nothing else on the 2  MS. OLENCHUK: -- the reason that Distrigas 

3 substance of this case, we will try to reach out to the 3 would like the opportunity to respond to the Region's 

4 Respondent. 4 post-hearing submission and recommendation is because 

5  MR. BURROUGH: No, the Region is fine. 5 the Region has the burden of proof, and, so, to the 

6  MS. OLENCHUK: One last request on behalf 6 extent that any new information or incorrect 

7 of the Respondent, and that is that Distrigas would 7 information is submitted, Distrigas would like the 

8 like to formally request we be provided with any 8 opportunity to respond. 

9 information that the Region provides to the presiding 9  MS. BALDWIN: I will entertain a request to 

10 official after the hearing and have the opportunity to 10 submit a response to the regional recommendation at 

11 respond. 11 that time, but, I mean, it is -- obviously, no new 

12  MS. BALDWIN: Yes, that would be standard. 12 information should be coming out at that stage. It is 

13  MS. AGBOOLA: The response to the 13 entirely within my purview whether or not to admit new 

14 post-hearing brief, are we doing them? If we raise 14 arguments or new evidence. So, if we come to that 

15 something new, of course, but -- 15 bridge, we will cross it. Hopefully, we won't, and we 

16  MS. BALDWIN: We need to talk about just 16 can wrap this matter up in 2020. So, I do appreciate 

17 post hearing and procedural matters. Is it reasonable 17 everyone's time today. If there is nothing further, we 

18 to assume that we can obtain the transcript within 15 18 can go off the record. Now, it is 10:16 a m. Thank 

19 to 20 days? 19 you. 

20  THE COURT REPORTER: Yes. 20  (Whereupon, at 10:16 a.m., the hearing was 

21  MS. OLENCHUK: Yes, absolutely. 21 concluded.) 
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ATTACHMENT 2 

Excerpts of PHMSA’s Pipeline Safety Enforcement Procedures, 
Section 4.2, Notices of Amendment 

(Dec. 12, 2018) 



 

    
 
 

    

 
 

 

   
   

   

      

       

     

      

        

     

      

    

      

 

  

  

  

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P i p e l i n e S a fe t y En fo r c e me n t P ro c e d u re s 
Section 4 

December 12, 2018 
Page 51 of 141 

4.2 Notices of Amendment 
The cross functional diagram for the developing and processing Notice of Amendment cases is 

illustrated in Figure 4.2.  The diagram is organized into nine major activities, as follows: 

1. Document Inspection/Investigation (Fig. 4.2, Sheet 1 – page 48) 

2. Process Information Request (Fig. 4.2, Sheet 2 – page 49) 

3. Prepare Notice of Amendment (Fig. 4.2, Sheet 3 – page 50) 

4. Issue Notice of Amendment (Fig. 4.2, Sheet 4 – page 51) 

5. Process Operator Response to Notice of Amendment (Fig. 4.2, Sheet 5 – page 52) 

6. Conduct Hearing (Fig. 4.2, Sheet 6 – page 53) 

7. Process Order Directing Amendment (Fig. 4.2, Sheet 7 – page 54) 

8. Close Case (Fig. 4.2, Sheet 8 – page 55) 

9. Petition for Reconsideration (Fig. 4.2, Sheet 9 – page 56) 

The following diagram and accompanying process descriptions identify the Region Director as 

responsible for certain steps in the enforcement process.  Many of these responsibilities can be 

delegated to Region staff at the Region Director’s discretion.  However, the Region Director is ultimately 

responsible for the correct and timely completion of these steps. 
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Figure 4.2 

Notice of Amendment Process 

Cross Functional Diagram 
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4.2.1 Document Inspection/Investigation 

Inspections or investigations are documented in accordance with Region practices. Inspections are 

documented using different forms, checklists, and other inspection help tools, including the Inspection 

Assistant (IA) Software. 

Many accident/incident investigations are documented using the Pipeline Failure Investigation Report as 

well as other forms, memoranda, and investigation help tools. An accident/incident investigation is 

documented for the purpose of enforcement with a variety of documents depending on the Region and 

circumstance.  Figure 4.2, Sheet 1, “Document Inspection” illustrates the overall process steps and 

individual responsibilities as they pertain to enforcement.  The following discussion provides further 

explanation of steps identified by bold borders in the cross functional diagram. 

4.2.1.1 Document Inspection 

Input: The inspection documentation package can include, but is not limited to, the following: 

• Evidence files, 

• Inspector notes (including interview notes) - typically documented in the IA 

software, 

• Responses to the inspection questions – typically documented in the IA software, 

• Completed inspection checklists/forms, 

• Operator documentation retained by Region staff, 

• Photographs, 

• Relevant in-place Special Permit, Corrective Action Order, Compliance Order, Order 

Directing Amendment, Consent Order, or Safety Order requirements issued to the 

operator, and 

• Any other material generated or obtained by Region staff that is material to the 

determination of inadequate plans or procedures. 

Output: Draft Inspection Output Report, Inspection Results Report, and/or other post-inspection 

documentation to conform with Region practices. 

Responsibility: Region staff. 

Description: Region staff review all the input associated with the inspection observations and draft 

an Inspection Report.  The Inspection Output Report documents all the issues, potentially inadequate 

plans and/or procedures, and/or potential non-compliances observed during the inspection. 

Region staff submit the final draft Inspection Output Report, Inspection Results Report, and any other 

Region-required documentation to the Region Director for approval. 

4.2.1.2 Document Accident/Incident Investigation 

Input: Input for documenting an accident or incident include: 
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• Evidence files, 

• Inspector notes (including interview notes), 

• Completed investigation checklists/forms, 

• Operator documentation retained by Region staff, 

• Photographs, 

• Root cause analysis, 

• Metallurgical examination reports, 

• Relevant in-place Special Permit, Corrective Action Order, Compliance Order, Order 

Directing Amendment, Consent Order, or Safety Order requirements issued to the 

operator, and 

• Any other material generated or obtained by Region staff that is relevant to the 

determination of compliance or non-compliance with pipeline safety regulations 

and inadequacies in plans or procedures. 

Output: Completed draft accident/incident documentation and accompanying evidence. 

Responsibility: Region staff. 

Description: Region staff document any inadequate plans and procedures that have been 

discovered and collect the evidence required to support these allegations. 

4.2.1.3 Inadequate Plans and/or Procedures Identified? 

Input: Approved inspection/accident/incident documentation and associated evidence. 

Output: Which (if any) issues/observations will be prosecuted as enforcement cases. 

Responsibility: Region Director. 

Description: When all available information has been obtained, the Region Director decides which, if 

any, issue(s) identified during the inspection or accident investigation warrant enforcement action and 

decides which type of enforcement tool to apply for each issue.  The Region Director follows the criteria 

in Section 3 to select the type of enforcement tool to use for each issue. 

If the time between the date that the apparent inadequacies occurred and the date of the anticipated 

notice letter exceeds five years, the Region Director consults with the Region Attorney to ensure that 

the statute of limitations will not be an issue. 

If no enforcement action is needed, or if the Region Director decides there is not enough 

information/evidence to successfully prosecute a case, Region staff complete the data entry in SMART 

and update the status of the inspection/investigation as complete with no enforcement action taken. If 

enforcement action is taken to address inadequate plans or procedures, a notice letter is prepared per 

Subsection 4.2.3, “Prepare Notice of Amendment.” 
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Sometimes, the Region Director may not have enough information/evidence to (1) successfully 

prosecute a case, or (2) determine which enforcement tool should be used, or (3) determine if 

enforcement action is appropriate. In these circumstances, the Region Director or Region staff may 

work with the operator informally to obtain additional documentation, evidence, or information needed 

to proceed with effective enforcement. If the operator does not voluntarily provide the needed 

information, the Region Director may compel the operator to provide the needed information via a 

Request for Specific Information.  (See Subsection 4.2.2, “Process Information Request.”) Alternatively, 

the Region Director or Region staff may skip any informal steps, and compel the operator to provide the 

needed information via a Request for Specific Information.  (See Subsection 4.2.2, “Process Information 

Request.”) 

4.2.2 Process Information Request 

Information requests are initiated any time PHMSA needs information to identify or prosecute a 

potential violation or to determine appropriate action following an inspection, accident, or incident. In 

addition, PHMSA may request information at any other time, as long as the request is related to 

determining an operator’s compliance with pipeline safety laws, regulations or orders. Templates for 

each type of information request are located on the PHP-60 SharePoint site. Figure 4.1, Sheet 2, 

“Process Information Request” Illustrates the overall process steps and individual responsibilities.  The 

following discussion provides further explanation of the key steps in this process identified by bold 

borders in the cross functional diagram. 

4.2.2.1 Prepare Information Request 

Input: Inspection Report and evidence files, or accident/incident documentation and 

associated evidence. 

Output: Draft information request. 

Responsibility: Region staff. 

Description: Region staff develop a draft information request using the appropriate template. The 

document will be titled either a Request for Specific Information or a Request for Information, 

depending on which template is used. The required letter content is described in the instructions 

provided in the template. Region staff can consult with the Region Attorney, particularly if the request 

is related to a significant accident or incident. Region staff provide the draft request to the Region 

Director for review and approval. 

4.2.2.2 Approve Information Request and Send to Operator 

Input: Draft information request. 

Output: Approved information request sent to operator. 

Responsibility: Region Director. 
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Description: The Region Director reviews the draft information request and discusses any comments, 

changes, or corrections with Region staff.  If required, Region staff revise the draft request. When the 

information request is satisfactory, the Region Director signs the request, and sends it to the operator, 

and includes the letter in the Region case file. 

4.2.2.3 Review Operator Response to Information Request 

Input: Operator’s reply to information request. 

Output: Updated case file. 

Responsibility: Region staff. 

Description: Region staff review the material provided by the operator in response to the 

information request. The information is included in the Region case file.  The new information is 

reviewed with the Region Director to determine if there are any inadequate plans or procedures. 

The operator is required to respond to an information request within 30 days of receiving the Request 

for Specific Information or a Request for Information, unless otherwise specified in the request.  

Operators may request an extension of time to respond by providing a written justification and 

proposing an alternate submission date. If the operator does not reply to a Request for Specific 

Information, or if the operator’s reply was not responsive to the request, the matter is referred to the 

Office of Chief Counsel. 

4.2.3 Prepare Notice of Amendment 

The Notice of Amendment letter process is initiated when the Region Director, based on the criteria in 

Section 3, determines the operator’s plans or procedures are inadequate to assure safe operation of a 

pipeline facility as described in Subsection 4.2.1.5. Figure 4.2, Sheet 3, “Prepare Notice of Amendment” 

Illustrates the overall process steps and individual responsibilities.  The following discussion provides 

further explanation of the key steps in this process identified by bold borders in the cross functional 

diagram. 

4.2.3.1 Prepare Draft Notice of Amendment 

Input: Input needed 

1. Inspection Output Report, 

2. Inspection results as documented in IA, or on other completed forms, 

3. Accident/incident documentation including the Failure Investigation Report (if 

applicable) 

4. Evidence files, 

5. Inspector notes, 

6. Operator response to information request (if applicable), and 

7. Region Director decision on type of enforcement for each issue 
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Output: Draft Notice of Amendment. 

Responsibility: Region staff. 

Description: Using the appropriate template (see Table 4-A), Region staff prepare a draft notice 

letter that addresses each procedural inadequacy. 

If an inspection or investigation identifies both probable violations and inadequate plans/procedures, 

based on the criteria in Section 3, the former must be documented in a separate Notice of Probable 

Violation or Warning Letter.  Inadequate procedure items and probable violations are not combined in 

the same letter. 

To improve enforcement case quality and expedite case processing, the following recommendations are 

provided to assist in preparing of Notices of Amendment. 

• Make sure that the name of the operator is correct.  Each entity should end in “Corporation,” 

“Company,” “L.P.” or other indication of the business entity. If in doubt, contact the company to 

obtain the specific legal name of the operator.  This name should generally match the name of 

the operator shown on the operator’s current Annual Report. 

• SMART is set up to assign a case to one operator and one OPID. If there is a need to address the 

letter to the multiple entities (e.g. the pipeline owner as well as the operator), consult with the 

Region Attorney and Office of Enforcement. 

• The Notice of Amendment must be addressed to the most senior pipeline operating company 

official such as the President or Chief Executive Officer; not the Vice President or a compliance 

manager.  (The letter should not be addressed to the larger holding company that is not the 

pipeline operating company.)  Use whatever method of research necessary to determine who is 

the most senior company official of the pipeline operating company.  Call the pipeline operating 

company to verify the identity of the most senior company official before sending the letter. 

• For each amendment item, keep the structure simple and use the following logical order and 

sequence: 

o Cite and quote the applicable regulation that requires the procedure or plan in bold at 

the beginning of each allegation, with the part, section and most specific paragraph of 

Title 49.  If the relevant requirement is a subsection of a regulatory section, include both 

the introductory text and the subsection in the citation and quotation. 

o Most regulations either require something to be done or prohibit something from being 

done.  The first sentence following the bolded regulatory citation should state the 

inadequate procedure that the regulation requires using the specific language and 

terminology directly from the regulation being cited. Identify the procedure in question 

as specifically as possible.  Describe the procedures in a manner that makes clear what 
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was found to be inadequate, and explain why.  It is not sufficient to only state that “the 

operator’s procedures for xxx were inadequate.” Do not advise the operator regarding 

how the procedures should be revised. Use the past tense since the Notice of 

Amendment will describe what was found prior to the Notice being sent. 

o State the specific evidence and facts upon which the amendment item is based. Again, 

use the past tense when describing evidence that was found.  

• Each amended item should normally have one cited regulation and will often have referenced 
regulations as well. Refer to the guidance below to properly cite and reference these regulations 
(in notice letters and in SMART): 

o Each allegation of inadequacy should normally be cited as a single regulation, cited in 

bold at the top of the notice letter. Since Notices of Amendment relate directly to the 

operator’s plans or procedures, cited regulations must state that there is a requirement 

to have a manual or written procedure. These regulations will be recorded as “Cited 
Regulations” in SMART Enforcement. 

o When other regulatory sections are used to help specify the requirement, these 

regulations should be included in the text of the allegation. These regulations will often 

be the ones that contain more specific requirements but do not directly state the need 

for manuals or written procedures. These regulations will all be recorded as “Additional 

Referenced Regulations” in SMART Enforcement. 

o No regulations will be included in SMART, as cited or referenced, that are not included 

in the notice letter (or the Order Directing Amendment). 

o The following examples may be useful: 

Example One: 

To cite an operator of a hazardous liquid pipeline for inadequate procedures related to 

communications, 195.408(b) is the most specific regulation. However, 195.408(b) does not 

specifically state a requirement to have a manual or written procedure for communication 

systems. It simply states that the communications systems discussed in the regulation are 

needed to operate the pipeline. 195.402(a) does require the pipeline operator to have 

manuals of written procedures for conducting pipeline operations. So, 195.402(a) is the 

primary regulation that the operator violated, since their manuals do not cover everything 

needed to conduct operations. It should be cited in bold at the beginning of this 

enforcement item in the notice letter and recorded as the Cited Regulation in SMART. 

195.408(b) explains how the operator failed to meet the requirements of 195.402(a), so it 
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should be discussed in the non-bold text of the enforcement item in the notice letter and 

will be recorded as a Referenced Regulation in SMART.  

Example Two: 

To cite a hazardous liquid pipeline operator for inadequate procedures that lack guidance 

for how the operator’s work will be reviewed, 195.402(c)(13) is the most specific regulation. 

In addition, since 195.402(c) refers to the requirement to address this in the operator’s 

manual, 195.402(c)(13) can stand alone as the primary regulation without any additional 

regulations mentioned. Any other regulations that may prove useful to explain the 

inadequacy in the operator’s manuals can be mentioned in the text and recorded in SMART 

as referenced regulations, but 195.402(c)(13) should be the only regulation in bold for this 

item on the notice letter and the only regulation recorded as the Cited Regulation in SMART. 

Example Three: 

To cite a gas pipeline operator for inadequate procedures related to filing supplemental 

incident reports, 191.15(b) is the most specific regulation. However, 191.15(b) does not 

specifically state a requirement to have a manual or written procedure for submitting 

supplemental incident reports, it just states that they must be submitted as soon as 

practicable. 192.605(b)(4) requires the operator to have procedures detailing the gathering 

of data needed for reporting incidents under 191. So 192(605)(b) is the primary regulation 

that the operator violated, since their manuals do not cover the gathering of data needed 

for reporting incidents under 191. Therefore, 192.605(b)(4) should be cited in bold at the 

beginning of this enforcement item in the notice letter and recorded as the Cited Regulation 

in SMART. 191.15(b) explains how the operator failed to meet the requirements of 

192.605(b)(4), so 191.15(b) should be discussed in the non-bold text of the enforcement 

item in the notice letter and will be recorded as a Referenced Regulation in SMART. 

• Do not label Notice of Amendment letter items as 1(a), 1(b), 1(c), etc.  See illustration below 

from a Notice of Amendment template letter. 
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In preparing the draft Notice of Amendment, Region staff may consult with the Region Attorney to 

assist in identifying the regulatory citations and formulating the logical arguments into a strong case. 

Region staff submit the final draft notice letter to the Region Director for approval. 

4.2.3.2 Approve Notice of Amendment 

Input: Draft Notice of Amendment. 

Output: Approved Notice of Amendment. 

Responsibility: Region Director. 

Description: The Region Director reviews the draft Notice of Amendment and discusses any 

comments, changes, or corrections with Region staff. If required, Region staff revise the final draft 

documents.  When the notice letter is satisfactory, a Compliance Progress File (CPF) number is assigned 

to the case according to the nomenclature provided in Section 5.2, and the Region Director approves 

and signs the letter. When the letter is completed, the Region Director sends the Notice of Amendment 

to the operator, per Subsection 4.2.4, “Issue Notice of Amendment.” 

4.2.4 Issue Notice of Amendment 

After Region Director approval, the Notice of Amendment is officially sent to the operator. Figure 4.2, 

Sheet 4 “Issue Notice of Amendment” illustrates the process steps and individual responsibilities.  The 

following discussion provides further explanation of the key steps in this process identified by bold 

borders in the cross functional diagram. 

Sometimes inspections/investigations result in multiples types of enforcement actions.  For example, a 

single inspection could result in the identification of multiple issues, some of which will be enforced 

using a Notice of Amendment and some using a Notice of Probable Violation depending on the specific 

circumstances and nature of each issue.  This often occurs for major programmatic type inspections such 

as Integrity Management inspections.  In this case, the Notice of Amendment may be issued to the 

operator without waiting for approval of a Notice of Probable Violation, which may take longer to 

process. 

4.2.4.1 Send Notice of Amendment to Operator 

Input: Final Notice of Amendment. 

Output: Notice of Amendment sent to operator and Compliance Registry, and completion of 

SMART Inspection entry. 

Responsibility: Region Director. 

Description: The Region Director signs the Notice of Amendment, and assures that it is sent using the 

method described in Section 5.1 and the necessary SMART Inspection process is complete. 

Upon issuance, the Region Director assures that Region staff or other members of Region staff: 
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• Create a Region case file 

• Enter case information into SMART Inspection, which documents the 

inspection/investigation results and proposed enforcement actions. Ensure the SMART 

Inspection data accurately reflects the notice letter with the Letter Sent (LS) items in SMART 

Activities.  For more information or detail relating to this topic see the SMART Inspection 

Policy; and 

• Send the case data to the Compliance Registry 

This step is crucial to the prompt and accurate creation of an enforcement case record in 

the Compliance Registry. Region staff send the case data from SMART Inspection to the 

Compliance Registry (see illustration below) to create the case in SMART Enforcement.  The 

Compliance Progress File number and date of the notice letter are needed before this action 

can be completed. 

. 

• Send the two electronic copies of the notice letter to the PHMSA Pipeline Compliance Registry 

email distribution list that includes those identified in Table 4-B. Refer to Section 5 for 

formatting requirements. 

• Anything that the Region believes is needed to be documented in the case file should be sent to 

the Compliance Registry throughout the enforcement process. 

When a new case transfers into SMART Enforcement and the case files are received from the Region, 

the Compliance Registry Coordinator: 

• Uploads case files into SMART, and 

• Performs SMART case data quality check. 
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4.2.5 Process Operator Response to Notice of Amendment 

Operators have 30 days of receipt of a Notice of Amendment to respond to PHMSA. See the “Response 

Options for Pipeline Operators in Compliance Proceedings” document. 

Failure of the operator to respond to the notice within 30 days of receipt constitutes a waiver of the 

right to contest the allegations in the notice and authorizes the Associate Administrator for Pipeline 

Safety to find facts as alleged in the notice without further notice to the respondent and to issue an 

Order Directing Amendment. 

Figure 4.2, Sheet 5 “Process Operator Response to Notice of Amendment” illustrates the process steps 

and individual responsibilities in addressing operator response to Notices of Amendment.  The following 

discussion provides further explanation of the key steps in this process identified by bold borders in the 

cross functional diagram. 

4.2.5.1 Review Operator Response and Amended Procedures 

Input: Operator response and amended plans/procedures. 

Output: Determination if the operator’s response is adequate to resolve the issue and close the 

case. 

Responsibility: Region Staff/Region Director. 

Description: Region staff review the submitted information to determine if it completely corrects the 

inadequacies identified in the Notice of Amendment. After consulting with the Region Director, if the 

operator’s response is adequate, the response is accepted and the case is closed per Subsection 4.2.5.2, 

“Prepare Letter to Operator Accepting Procedures and Closing Case.” 

If the operator response is not adequate to resolve the deficiencies identified in the Notice of 

Amendment, the operator is informed as described in Subsection 4.2.5.4, “Inform Operator of 

Inadequate Response.” 

If the operator reply was non-responsive, or the operator failed to respond, an Order Directing 

Amendment should be recommended per Subsection 4.2.5.6, “Send Recommendation for Order 

Directing Amendment to Office of Chief Counsel.” 

If the operator requests a hearing, Subsection 4.2.6, “Conduct Hearing” describes that process. (Some 

operators may tentatively request a hearing or “reserve” their right to request a hearing in the future.  

All such statements should be treated as requests for hearings.) 
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Upon receipt and review of the operator’s response and revised procedures, Region staff send 

electronic files of the operator response, along with the revised procedures7, to the Compliance 

Registry, so the SMART case file can be updated. If the operator provides a redacted8 copy of its 

response, this is provided to the Compliance Registry as well. See Table 4-B for a complete list of 

PHMSA recipients of operator responses to Notices of Amendment. 

4.2.5.2 Prepare Letter to Operator Accepting Procedures and Closing Case 

Input: Operator response and amended procedures. 

Output: Draft letter to operator accepting the amended procedures and closing case. 

Responsibility: Region staff. 

Description: Region staff prepare a draft letter using the appropriate template informing the 

operator that its revised plans/procedures have been accepted and the Notice of Amendment case is 

closed.  Instructions for the content of these letters are contained in the template. The draft closure 

letter is provided to the Region Director for review. 

4.2.5.3 Send Letter Accepting Procedures and Closing Case to Operator 

Input: Draft letter to operator accepting the amended procedures and closing case. 

Output: Signed letter to operator accepting the amended procedures and closing case. 

Responsibility: Region Director. 

Description: The Region Director reviews the draft closure letter with Region. If any modifications 

are required, Region staff make the necessary changes.  When satisfactory, the closure letter is signed 

by the Region Director, and sent to the operator using the method described in Section 5. 

Region staff also send the letter to the Compliance Registry so the SMART case file can be updated and 

the case closed. In addition, Region staff send a copy of the “accepted” procedures to the Compliance 

Registry. Additional recipients of the closure letter are specified in Table 4-B. 

4.2.5.4 Inform Operator of Inadequate Response 

Input: Operator response and amended plan/procedures. 

7 In situations where operators provide voluminous responses such as manuals and procedures, these documents 
may be sent to the Compliance Registry for scanning.  Difficult to scan items like large maps and drawings should 
be retained in the Region case files. 
8 In the notice letter, operators are advised that their response may be made available to the public.  As such, they 
can provide a redacted copy of their response if it qualifies as sensitive or privacy protected material. See Section 5 
for assigning file names to sensitive or privacy protected operator response documents. 



   
 

 
 

    

 

 

      

   

 

  

   

     

   

    

    

    

 

 

    

       

        

 

  

     

   

   

  

   

   

  

 

   

   

    

        

   

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

P i  p e l i n e S a f e t y E n f o r c e m e n t Section 4 
December 12, 2018 

P r o c e d u re s Page 73 of 141 

Output: Informal communications and/or letter to operator informing them that the response to 

the Notice of Amendment was insufficient and additional plan/procedure revisions are 

needed to resolve the inadequacies. 

Responsibility: Region staff. 

Description: Region staff assigned to the case review the operator’s response including any amended 

procedures that are submitted.  If the operator’s response is insufficient to resolve the inadequacies 

identified in the Notice of Amendment, Region staff or the Region Director interact with the operator to 

discuss the unresolved issues.  Record of this feedback is provided to the Compliance Registry so it can 

be recorded in the SMART case file. This record could include a formal letter to the operator signed by 

the Region Director, a copy of an e-mail message sent to the operator, or an e-mail message to the 

Compliance Registry notifying that the operator had been contacted by phone or other informal means 

and informed that its procedures were inadequate. In some situations, operators may have to submit 

revisions to its plans or procedures in order to fully address the inadequacies identified in the Notice of 

Amendment. 

4.2.5.5 Prepare Draft Recommendation for Order Directing Amendment 

Input: Operator response and amended procedures (if any). 

Output: Draft Recommendation to the Office of Chief Counsel to issue an Order Directing 

Amendment. 

Responsibility: Region staff. 

Description: An Order Directing Amendment is issued when: 

• The operator does not respond to the Notice of Amendment, 

• The operator’s reply is non-responsive to the Notice of Amendment, 

• The operator’s proposed plan/procedure revisions are insufficient to resolve the issue, and the 

Region is unsuccessful at achieving agreement informally, or 

• At the conclusion of a hearing (if the operator requested a hearing). 

Region staff assigned to the case review the information submitted by the operator, including additional 

information provided at the hearing, and in any post-hearing submissions (if applicable).  This 

information is evaluated along with the facts and evidence of the case previously documented in the 

Notice of Amendment and supporting evidence files.  Region staff determine whether the operator 

procedures and plans in question are still inadequate and need modification.  Region staff may consult 

with the Region Director and Region Attorney in arriving at these decisions. After completing this 

evaluation, Region prepares a draft Recommendation using the appropriate template.  
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If the procedures are still deemed to be inadequate, the Recommendation clearly documents which 

procedures are inadequate, and the basis for this determination.  The Recommendation must explain 

why the procedures remain inadequate.  This analysis provides the attorney preparing the order with 

background information as to why the Region agrees or disagrees with the arguments put forth by the 

operator. The Recommendation states that an Order Directing Amendment should be issued requiring 

the operator make the necessary changes to its plans and procedures. 

If the Region’s analysis of the supporting evidence determines that the operator’s original procedures 

already provided were adequate, then the Recommendation states that the allegations should be 

withdrawn and the case closed. 

If the Region’s analysis of the supporting evidence determines that the operator’s amended procedures 

are now adequate, then the Recommendation states that. 

4.2.5.6 Approve Recommendation and Send to Office of Chief Counsel and Compliance Registry 

Input: Draft Recommendation to prepare an Order Directing Amendment. 

Output: Approved Region Recommendation to issue an Order Directing Amendment. 

Responsibility: Region Director. 

Description: After completing the draft Recommendation, Region staff provides it to the Region 

Director for review.  The Region Director reviews the final draft Recommendation and discusses any 

comments, changes, or corrections with Region. If required, Region staff revises the final draft 

documents.  Region Director ensures that Recommendation clearly documents which procedures are 

inadequate and why they are inadequate. When satisfactory, the Region Director signs the 

Recommendation and sends it to the Office of Chief Counsel, the Compliance Registry Coordinator, and 

other individuals as identified in Table 4-B. 

If the Region has no additional information beyond that presented in the Notice of Amendment letter, 

and no explanation is needed to explain why an operator’s response is unsatisfactory, Region staff can 

recommend that an email be sent saying it has no update in lieu of preparing a formal 

Recommendation. 

4.2.5.7 Send Recommendation to Operator 

Input: Operator Request for Region Recommendation. 

Output: Recommendation to issue an Order Directing Amendment sent to Operator. 

Responsibility: Region Director or Region Attorney 
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Description: If the operator requests a copy of the Region’s Recommendation, the recipient of this 

request – either the Region Director or the Region Attorney – sends the Recommendation to the 

operator. This individual also sends a copy of the operator’s request for the Recommendation as well as 

a record of the Recommendation being sent to the Compliance Registry Coordinator so these 

documents can be added to the case file. 

If an operator submits a rebuttal to the Region Recommendation, the Region will normally not provide 

anything further. 

4.2.6 Conduct Hearing 

If an operator contests allegations of inadequacies of plans/procedures, the operator may request an 

administrative hearing to present its case.  The Office of Chief Counsel’s Presiding Official conducts the 

hearing as described in in 190.211 and 190.212. Figure 4.2, Sheet 6 “Conduct Hearing” illustrates the 

overall process steps and individual responsibilities.  The following discussion provides further 

explanation of the key steps in this process identified by bold borders in the cross functional diagram. 

4.2.6.1 Send Notification to Schedule Hearing to Presiding Official 

Input: Letter from operator requesting a hearing. 

Output: Notification to schedule a hearing. 

Responsibility: Region Director. 

Description: Upon receipt of a response to a Notice of Amendment in which the operator requests a 

hearing, the Region prepares and sends the e-mail notification to the Presiding Official and the 

Compliance Registry so the SMART case file can be updated.   Additional recipients of the notification to 

schedule a hearing are identified in Table 4-B. 

Hearing scheduling notifications are created for SMART record-keeping purposes and to notify the 

Presiding Official of a hearing request. If an operator requests a hearing, one must be held, unless the 
case is withdrawn for other reasons.  

4.2.6.2 Schedule Hearing 

Input: Notification to schedule a hearing. 

Output: Hearing schedule. 

Responsibility: Presiding Official. 

Description: After receiving a notification to schedule a hearing from the Region, the Presiding 

Official works with the Region and the operator to select a hearing date and location. These 

arrangements are documented in a letter and sent to the operator and the Region Director.  For Notice 

of Amendment cases, the hearing may be conducted by teleconference or video conferencing unless the 

Presiding Official determines otherwise, or the operator specifically requests a hearing in person. 
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When the hearing has been scheduled, the Presiding Official sends a copy of the letter scheduling the 

hearing to the Compliance Registry so the SMART case file can be updated.  Additional recipients of the 

letters scheduling a hearing are listed in Table 4-B. 

4.2.6.3 Prepare for Hearing 

Input: Operator response to the Notice of Amendment. 

Output: Depending on the specifics of the case, additional materials, information, analysis, and 

evidence to successfully prosecute the case. 

Responsibility: Region Director, Region staff, and Region Attorney. 

Description: Upon receipt of the operator’s letter requesting a hearing, the Region Director and 

Region evaluate the basis for the operator’s position in contesting the alleged inadequate procedures. 

The Region Director and Region staff assemble evidence from the case file as appropriate to prepare for 

the hearing. 

If the Region intends to introduce new material that is not currently in the case file during the hearing, 

the Region provides this information to the operator and the Presiding Official at least 10 days prior to 

the hearing date. This gives the operator the opportunity to review and respond to the new materials. 

Examples of such material include any presentations, maps, or other information that the Region may 

want to use in rebutting an operator’s arguments or explaining issues to the Presiding Official. 

Likewise, if the operator intends to introduce materials at the hearing that are not already in the case 

file, the operator must provide this material to the Region Director and the Presiding Official at least 10 

days prior to the hearing date.  This provides the Region Director and Region staff an opportunity to 

review and prepare responses to this new material before the hearing. 

If the operator or the Region is unable to provide its pre-hearing submissions 10 or more days before 

the hearing, the party must send a request for a waiver to the Presiding Official and the other party.  

This request must explain the reason for requesting the time extension. 

Should the operator or the Region provide pre-hearing submissions or request waivers of the 10 day 

submission deadline, the Presiding Official sends the pre-hearing submissions and associated 

correspondence to the Compliance Registry so the SMART case file can be updated. 

An operator’s request for a hearing must be accompanied by a statement of the issues it intends to raise 

at the hearing. The issues may relate to the allegations in the notice, or the proposed corrective action. 

An operator’s failure to specify an issue may result in waiver of the operator's right to raise that issue at 

the hearing. 

The Region Attorney may be consulted by the Region Director or Region staff to provide guidance and 

assistance in preparing to present the case at the hearing. By working together consistently before the 
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hearing, you can ensure that the Region Director, Region staff and the Region Attorney are all fully 

briefed and aware of the case issues, the basis for the enforcement, and evidence. 

Pursuant to 190.210(b)’s prohibition on ex parte communications, the Region Director and Region staff 

assigned to the case cannot discuss the case with the Presiding Official outside of the hearing.  This 

assures that the Presiding Official is not influenced by information that is not presented at the hearing.  

Only procedural and scheduling questions can be addressed with the Presiding Official. The Region 

Attorney should be consulted if there are any questions about communication with the Presiding Official 

prior to the hearing. 

4.2.6.4 Conduct Hearing 

Input: Materials developed or collected in preparation for the hearing. 

Output: A fair hearing in which both sides have had the opportunity to present their positions. 

Any documents and other evidence presented at the hearing become part of the case file.  A written 

notification that the hearing was held is provided to the Compliance Registry. 

Responsibility: Presiding Official. 

Description: During the hearing, the operator is typically represented by staff members 

knowledgeable with the alleged plan or procedure inadequacies, its regulatory compliance personnel, 

and perhaps company management.  Operators may also rely on outside consultants for technical 

support, and in-house or outside counsel for legal support.  The Region is represented by the Region 

Director, Region staff assigned to the case and the Region Attorney. 

All PHMSA hearings are considered “informal adjudications,” meaning that they do not adhere to the 
formal procedures used by courts or strict rules of evidence.  However, they must still meet all statutory, 

regulatory and constitutional requirements for informal hearings. Both the operator and Region are 

provided an opportunity to present evidence supporting their respective positions. The operator may 

present facts, statements, explanations, documents, testimony, or other items relevant to the issues 

under consideration. Each side is allowed to respond to information the other party presents. 

After the hearing is finished, the Presiding Official provides written notification that the hearing has 

been held to the Compliance Registry so the SMART case file can be updated. An e-mail message 

indicating the hearing date and the participants is satisfactory documentation of the event.  If the 

operator has provided additional evidence at the hearing, these documents are also provided to the 

Compliance Registry to update the SMART case file. 

There are no transcripts or official minutes of the hearing, unless an operator elects to transcribe a 

hearing.  In these situations, the operator must notify the Presiding Official in advance of its intent, and 

it must arrange for a court reporter to transcribe the session at its own cost.  The operator must provide 

copies of the transcript to PHMSA for the case file.  
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4.2.6.5 Review Post-Hearing Submission 

Input: Additional evidence submitted by the operator after the hearing. 

Output: Updated case file with additional information and evidence. 

Responsibility: Presiding Official. 

Description: If requested, the Presiding Official allows the operator to submit additional evidence 

supporting its case following the conclusion of the hearing.  The operator sends this post-hearing 

submission to the Presiding Official for review. Unless otherwise noted, the operator sends its post-

hearing submission within 30 days of the conclusion of the hearing. 

The Presiding Official sends a copy of this material to the Region for review and possible use in preparing 

its Recommendation.  The Presiding Official also sends the post-hearing submission to the Compliance 

Registry so the SMART case file can be updated.   If the contents of the post-hearing submission are not 

in electronic format, the Presiding Official may send the documents to the Compliance Registry for 

scanning.  Oversize drawings and documents are sent to the Region for retention in its case files. 

4.2.7 Process Order Directing Amendment 

Figure 4.2, Sheet 7 “Process Order Directing Amendment” Illustrates the overall process steps and 

individual responsibilities.  The following discussion provides further explanation of the key steps in this 

process identified by bold borders in the cross functional diagram. 

4.2.7.1 Prepare Order Directing Amendment 

Input: Evidence in Case File, including operator submissions, and Region Recommendation. 

Output: Draft Order Directing Amendment, in a fully edited proof-read and signature-ready 

format. 

Responsibility: Presiding Official or other Office of Chief Counsel attorney. 

Description: Based on all the evidence in the record, the Office of Chief Counsel attorney 

independently drafts an Order Directing Amendment that contains findings of fact and law on all 

material issues.  The attorney may consult the Region’s Recommendation but is not bound by it. The 

attorney may also consult with impartial technical resources at headquarters or in the Regions who 

were not involved in any way in the development of the case. 

If the attorney determines that the case does not merit modification of plans or procedures, the Order 

Directing Amendment will withdraw the notice and close the case. 

Before the order is sent to the Enforcement Division, the attorney confirms that the company name and 

address are correct and current.  The attorney also confirms the name and title of the company official 

to whom the Order Directing Amendment is addressed. 
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Finally, if the Order Directing Amendment is for a case which involved a hearing, the Deputy Chief 

Counsel reviews the draft Order prepared by the Presiding Official and resolves any issues with the 

Presiding Official. If the Order Directing Amendment is for a case without a hearing, the Assistant Chief 

Counsel for Pipelines reviews the Order and resolves any issues with the attorney who prepared the 

draft Order. 

4.2.7.2 Review Order Directing Amendment 

Input: Draft Order Directing Amendment. 

Output: Draft Order Directing Amendment ready for Associate Administrator review. 

Responsibility: Enforcement Division staff and Management and Program Analyst. 

Description: An Enforcement Division staff person – one not involved in any way in the development 

of the previous stages of the case - reviews the draft Order Directing Amendment prepared by Office of 

Chief Counsel only for differences with the Region Recommendation.  If found, the staff person 

highlights the item(s) having differences to facilitate the Associate Administrator’s review. 

The draft Order Directing Amendment is provided to the Management and Program Analyst for one last 

editorial check. Any suggested changes during this process are resolved with the Office of Chief 

Counsel.  When this review is complete, the Management and Program Analyst sends it to the Associate 

Administrator or Deputy Associate Administrator 

4.2.7.3 Review and Approve Order Directing Amendment 

Input: Draft Order Directing Amendment. 

Output: Approved and signed Order Directing Amendment. 

Responsibility: Associate Administrator. 

Description: The Associate Administrator or Deputy Associate Administrator reviews the draft order.  

When the Associate Administrator, or Deputy Associate Administrator, determines the order to be 

satisfactory, the Associate Administrator or Deputy Associate Administrator approves and signs the 

order. 

4.2.7.4 Send Approved Order Directing Amendment to Operator 

Input: Approved Order Directing Amendment signed by the Associate Administrator or Deputy 

Associate Administrator. 

Output: Order sent to operator and updated case file. 

Responsibility: Office of Chief Counsel. 

Description: The Office of Chief Counsel sends the approved and signed Order Directing Amendment 

to the operator. The order is sent by certified mail, overnight courier, or electronic transmission by 
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facsimile or other electronic means that includes reliable acknowledgement of actual receipt.  The Office 

of Chief Counsel retains a copy of the acknowledgement of operator receipt of the order (e.g., the US 

Postal Service return receipt signed by the operator). 

The Office of Chief Counsel sends a copy of the order to the Compliance Registry to update the SMART 

case file. Additional recipients of the Order Directing Amendment are listed in Table 4-B. 

4.2.8 After Order Directing Amendment or Decision on Petition for 

Reconsideration-Close Case 

A case involving inadequate plans/procedures is closed upon confirmation that the operator 

satisfactorily revised its plans/procedures to eliminate the inadequacy identified in the Order Directing 

Amendment, or, if applicable, the Decision on Petition for Reconsideration. Figure 4.2, Sheet 8 “Close 

Case” Illustrates the overall process steps and individual responsibilities.  The following discussion 
provides further explanation of the key steps in this process identified by bold borders in the cross 

functional diagram. 

4.2.8.1 Review Amended Procedures 

Input: Revised procedures submitted by the operator. 

Output: Draft case closure letter. 

Responsibility: Region staff. 

Description: Region staff review the operator submittal of revised plans or procedures to confirm 

that the operator satisfactorily addressed the inadequacies specified in the Order Directing Amendment. 

If further changes are required to comply with the order, Region staff communicate the remaining 

problem areas needing improvement to the operator. If the operator does not effectively modify its 

plans or procedures, Region staff may recommend additional enforcement action, such as a Notice of 

Probable Violation for failure to comply with the Order Directing Amendment, or, if applicable, the 

Decision on Petition for Reconsideration. 

After the operator has satisfactorily modified its plans or procedures, Region staff prepare a draft letter 

to the operator closing the case using the appropriate template.  Instructions for the content of the case 

closure letter are contained in the template.  The draft closure letter is provided to the Region Director 

for approval. Region staff also send the operator’s revised, acceptable plans or procedures to the 
Compliance Registry, so the SMART case file can be updated.  Additional recipients for the operator’s 

response to an Order Directing Amendment are listed in Table 4-B. 

4.2.8.2 Send Closure Letter to Operator 

Input: Draft closure letter. 

Output: Approved closure letter. 



   
 

 
 

    

 

 

   

   

  

      

     

 

  

 

   

   

   

 

 

   

   

    

    

  

  

   

 

  

    

    

    

   

     

      

 

  

   

  

 
  

 

  

 
  

 

  

 
  

 

  

 
  

 

  

P i  p e l i n e S a f e t y E n f o r c e m e n t Section 4 
December 12, 2018 

P r o c e d u re s Page 81 of 141 

Responsibility: Region Director. 

Description: The Region Director reviews the draft closure letter and discusses any comments, 

changes, or corrections with Region. If required, Region revises the final draft letter.  When the letter is 

satisfactory, the Region Director approves and signs the letter, and sends it to the operator. The closure 

letter is sent to the Compliance Registry to update SMART and close the case. Additional recipients of 

the closure letter are listed in Table 4-B. 

4.2.9 Petition for Reconsideration 

After receipt of an Order Directing Amendment, operators have the right to petition the Associate 

Administrator to reconsider the ruling.  A Petition for Reconsideration must be received by PHMSA no 

later than 20 days after the operator’s receipt of the Order Directing Amendment.  The petition must 

contain a brief explanation of the operator’s objection and an explanation why the Order should be 

modified. Figure 4.2, Sheet 9, “Petition for Reconsideration” illustrates the overall process steps and 

individual responsibilities.  The following discussion provides further explanation of the key steps in this 

process identified by bold borders in the cross functional diagram. 

4.2.9.1 Assign Attorney and Review Petition 

Input: Petition for Reconsideration submitted by the operator. 

Output: Updated case file. 

Responsibility: Office of Chief Counsel Attorney. 

Description: Operators may petition the Associate Administrator for reconsideration of an Order 

Directing Amendment.  This petition must be received no more than 20 days after the operator received 

the Order Directing Amendment. Upon receipt of a Petition for Reconsideration, the Office of Chief 

Counsel assigns an attorney to the case to review the petition.  The attorney reviews the operator’s 

petition and determines the appropriate initial course of action on the petition. 

The Office of Chief Counsel attorney also sends a copy of the petition to the Compliance Registry to 

update the SMART case file.  Additional copies of the petition are sent to the individuals listed in 

Table 4-B. 

4.2.9.2 Prepare Decision on Petition 

Input: Petition for Reconsideration. 

Output: Draft Decision on Petition for Reconsideration in a fully edited proof-read and signature-

ready format. 

Responsibility: Office of Chief Counsel Attorney. 

Description: The Office of Chief Counsel attorney assigned to the case prepares a draft Decision on 

Petition for Reconsideration.  The attorney may also consult with impartial technical resources at 
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headquarters or in the Regions, as long as those individuals have had no previous involvement in 

prosecuting this case. 

4.2.9.3 Review and Approve Decision on Petition 

Input: Draft Decision on Petition for Reconsideration. 

Output: Approved and signed Decision on Petition for Reconsideration. 

Responsibility: Associate Administrator. 

Description: The Associate Administrator, or Deputy Associate Administrator, reviews the draft 

Decision on Petition for Reconsideration.  When the Associate Administrator, or Deputy Associate 

Administrator, finds the draft Decision on Petition for Reconsideration to be acceptable, the Associate 

Administrator or Deputy Associate Administrator approves and signs the decision. 

4.2.9.4 Send Decision on Petition to Operator 

Input: Approved and signed Decision on Petition for Reconsideration. 

Output: Decision on Petition for Reconsideration sent to operator. 

Responsibility: Office of Chief Counsel. 

Description: The Office of Chief Counsel sends the approved and signed Decision on Petition for 

Reconsideration to the operator.  The decision is sent by certified mail, overnight courier, or electronic 

transmission by facsimile or other electronic means that includes reliable acknowledgement of actual 

receipt.  The Office of Chief Counsel retains a copy of the acknowledgement of operator receipt of the 

decision (e.g., the US Postal Service return receipt signed by the operator). 

The Office of Chief Counsel provides a copy of the decision to the Compliance Registry to update the 

SMART case file.  Additional copies of the decision are sent to individuals identified in Table 4-B. 



 

 

 

  

 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 3 

In the Matter of Distrigas of Massachusetts, LLC 
Affidavit of Ms. Bryn Karaus 

CPF No. 1-2019-3001M 
(Feb. 10, 2020) 



    
      

    

 
     

 
        

 
  

    

                
   

             
          
         
             

            
 

               
            
             

             
              

      

                
          

          
           
                

             
           

             
       

              
           

              
         

            






